$13^{\rm th}$ Neural Coding

Torino, September 9–14, 2018

Aula Magna, Palazzo del Rettorato, Via G. Verdi 8, Torino

Book of Abstracts



The Thirteenth Neural Coding Conference will be held in Torino, Italy (September 9–14, 2018), organized by the Probability and Mathematical Statistics group of the Mathematics Department "G. Peano", University of Torino, Italy. and the local organizing agency CIFS.

The Thirteenth Neural Coding Conference has been partially funded by the Mathematics Department "G. Peano", University of Torino and by INDAM–GNCS.

Neural Coding 2018

Torino, September 9-14

Program

<u>Sunday</u>	
18:30-20:30	Registration & Welcome

<u>Monday</u>		Chair	<u>Tuesday</u>		Chair
8:30-9:30	Registration & Opening		9:00-9:30	Stiber	
9:30-10:00	Lindner	Creamwood	9:30-10:00	Roy	Villa
10:00-10:30	Ditlevsen	Greenwood	10:00-10:30	Andreis	
10:30-11:00	Coffee Break		10:30-11:00	Coffee Break	
11:00-11:30	Diesmann			Destar	
11:30-12:00	Borisyuk	Braun	11.00-12:30	Poster	Sacerdote
12:00-12:30	Bernardi			presentation	
12:30-14:00	Lunch		12:30-14:00	Lunch	
14:00-14:30	Tamborrino		14:00-14:30	Marsalek	
14:30-15:00	Di Garbo	Shinomoto	14:30-15:00	Nieus	Lansky
15:00-15:30	Quaglio		15:00-15:30	Christodoulou	
15:30-16:00	Coffee Break			Coffee Break	
			15:30-17:30	&	
16:00-16:30	Kilpatrick	- Christodoulou		Poster Session	
16:30-17:00	Bazhenov				

<u>Wednesday</u>		Chair	<u>Thursday</u>		Chair
9:00-9:30	Shinomoto		9:00-9:30	Kostal	
9:30-10:00	Greenwood	ТВА	9:30-10:00	Pica	Jolivet
10:00-10:30	Braun		10:00-10:30	Villa	
10:30-11:00	Coffee Break		10:30-11:00	Coffee Break	
11:00-11:30	Levakova		11:00-11:30	Tezuka	
11:30-12:00	Rostami	Ditlevsen	11:30-12:00	Turova	Kobayashi
12:00-12:30	Aksenova		12:00-12:30	Tubikanec	
12:30-14:00	Lunch		12:30-14:00	Lunch	
16.20	Egyptian/Cinema		14:00-14:30	Kobayashi	
16:20	Museum		14:30-15:00	Li	Tamborrino
			15:00-15:30	Gilson	
20:00-					
	Social Dinner		15:30-16:00	Coffee Break	
			16:00-16:30	Jolivet	Kastal
			16:30-17:00	D'Onofrio	Nostai

<u>Friday</u>	
10:00-12:00	Round table (optional)

Contents

Talks (ordered by speaker's family name)	1
Markov mixture of experts to decode limb trajectories from ECoG for Brain	
Computer Interfacing (Marie-Caroline Schaeffer, Alexandre Moly and	
Tetiana Aksenova)	. 1
Networks of interacting components with macroscopic self-sustained periodic	
behavior (<i>Luisa Andreis</i> and <i>Daniele Tovazzi</i>)	. 3
Continuous learning, sleep and memory consolidation (Maxim Bazheno	v) 4
Detecting single-cell stimulation in recurrent networks of spiking neurons (<i>Davide Bernardi</i> and <i>Benjamin Lindner</i>)	. 5
Interplay of structural and functional properties in a simple locomotor network: a probabilistic model (<i>Roman Borisyuk</i> , <i>Andrea Ferrario</i> ,	, _
Robert Merrison-Hort and Stephen Soffe)	. 7
Synchronization of heterogeneous neurons of different activity patterns in a mathematical model of a gap-junction coupled network (<i>Hans</i>	10
Albert Braun and Aubin Ichapicnet)	. 10
Modelling the relationship between self-control and consciousness (<i>Chris</i> <i>Christodoulou</i>)	. 11
Multi-area models as data integrators and building blocks (<i>Markus Dies-mann</i>)	. 14
Analysis of interspike intervals of a resonate-and-fire neural model with periodic drive (<i>Luigi Marangio</i> , Stefano Galatolo, Leone Fronzoni, Santi Chillemi and Angelo Di Garbo)	. 16
Oscillating systems with cointegrated phase processes (Jacob Østergaard, Anders Rahbek and Susanne Ditlevsen)	. 18
On diffusion neuronal models with multiplicative noise (<i>Giusenne D'Onof</i>	rio
Petr Lansky)	. 19
Framework for estimation and interpretation of biomarkers for brain dy- namics from fMBL (Matthian Cilson Andrea Insabata Vicente	-
Pallarés. Gorka Zamora-López and Gustavo Deco)	. 20
Quasi-patterns of Phase Synchronization (Priscilla E. Greenwood and Lawrence L. Ward)	. 22
Energy-efficient information transfer at synapses and energy-dependent	
learning rules (<i>Renaud Jolivet</i>)	. 23
Synaptically shaping working memory codes (<i>Zacharu P. Kilpatrick</i>)	. 24
	-

Estimation of synaptic connections from parallel spike trains (Ryota Kobayashi , Shuhei Kurita, Katsunori Kitano, Kenji Mizuseki, Barry	26
J. Richmona and Snigeru Shinomoto)	20
Neuronal population size and reliable information transmission (<i>Lubomir</i> <i>Kostal</i> and Ryota Kobayashi)	27
Short- and long-term adaptation in moth olfactory receptor neurons (<i>Marie</i> <i>Levakova</i>)	28
Benefits of fluctuations and heterogeneity for the signal transmission in single neurons and neural populations (<i>Benjamin Lindner</i>)	30
Inference in complicated mixture models with application in neuroscience and visual attention (<i>Kang Li</i> and <i>Susanne Ditlevsen</i>)	31
Description of sound intensity and frequency encoding in the human auditory periphery (<i>Petr Marsalek</i>)	32
PCIe: a novel data robust perturbational complexity index to assess con- sciousness in human subjects (<i>Thierry Nieus</i> , <i>Silvia Casarotto</i> ,	
Adenauer Casali and Marcello Massimini)	33
tionship between sensory information and behavioral discrimination performance (<i>Giuseppe Pica</i> and Stefano Panzeri)	35
Behavior related precise spatio-temporal spike patterns (Pietro Quaglio , Alessandra Stella, Emiliano Torre, Alexa Riehle, Thomas Brochier and Sonia Gruen)	36
Inhibitory Clustering and Spike Frequency Adaptation: Crucial Features in Modeling Cortical Dynamics (<i>Vahid Rostami</i> , <i>Thomas Rost, Sacha</i> <i>J. van Albada and Martin P. Nawrot</i>)	38
The role of network architecture in the onset of Local and Global Up states (Diletta Pozzi, Nicolo Meneghetti, Anjan Roy, Beatrice Pastore, Alberto Mazzoni, Matteo Marsili, Vincent Torre)	40
Inferring the source of fluctuations in neuronal activity (<i>Shigeru Shi-</i> <i>nomoto</i> , <i>Shinsuke Koyama and Kazuki Fujita</i>)	42
Spatiotemporal characteristics of bursting and avalanches in cultures of cortical neurons (<i>Jewel YunHsuan Lee and Michael Stiber</i>)	43
The Jacobi diffusion process as a neuronal model (<i>Giuseppe D'Onofrio</i> , <i>Massimiliano Tamborrino</i> and Petr Lansky)	46
Gaussian process regression for decoding multineuron spike trains (<i>Taro</i> <i>Tezuka</i>)	47
Parameter Estimation through Approximate Bayesian Computation for Stochastic Neural Mass Models (<i>Irene Tubikanec</i> , <i>Massimiliano</i>	
Tamborrino and Evelyn Buckwar)	49
Neurocoding via graph structure (<i>Tatyana Turova</i>)	51
Attractor dynamics and spatiotemporal patterns of neural activity (<i>Alessan- dro E.P. Villa</i>)	52

Posters (ordered by presenter's family name)

55

Baseline-corrected space-by-time tensor factorizations for decoding pop- ulation spike trains (<i>Arezoo Alizadeh</i> , Arno Onken and Stefano Panzeri)	5
Functional interactions among neural assemblies based on frequency-domain analysis (Yoshiyuki Asai , Takeshi Abe, Takahide Hayano, Manon Jaquerod, Alessandra Lintas and Alessandro E.P. Villa)	8
Active electrosensing for spatial map encoding in a fish (<i>Simone Azeglio</i> , James J. Jun, André Longtin and Leonard Maler)	0
Fast Instructed Stimulus-Response Learning (Guido Bugmann, Serge Thill and Jeremy Goslin) 6	1
A stochastic model for block-layered neuronal networks (Giacomo Ascione, Maria Francesca Carfora and Enrica Pirozzi)	3
Inferring the degree of causal interactions within physical systems from their surface dynamics (<i>Anna Cattani</i> , <i>Larissa Albantakis</i> , <i>Leonardo</i> <i>Barbosa</i> , <i>William Marshall</i> , <i>Giulio Tononi and Marcello Massimini</i>). 68	5
Cross-sound modeling of midbrain auditory responses to two different environmental sounds (<i>Tsai-Rong Chang, Daniel Suta and Tzai-Wen</i> <i>Chiu</i>)	7
Recurrent network model for studying network dynamics in calcium imaging	1
population recordings (<i>Maria Constantinou</i> , <i>Diego Fasoli and</i> Stefano Panzeri) 69	9
On a stochastic model for fluctuating systems under state-dependent di- chotomous noise (<i>Antonio Di Crescenzo and Fabio Travaglino</i>)7	1
ulations and statistical analysis (<i>Giuseppe D'Onofrio</i> , <i>Lubomir</i> <i>Kostal and Enrica Pirozzi</i>)	3
A model of presynaptic KV7 channel function in hippocampal mossy fiber boutons (<i>Elisabetta Giacalone</i> , <i>Katiuscia Martinello</i> , <i>David A</i> . Brown, Mala M. Shah and Michele Migliore)	5
Detecting dependences between neurons in the electric fish (<i>C. Giordana</i> , <i>A. Caputi, A. Rodriguez-Cattáneo, L. Sacerdote and M. Tamborrino</i>) 70	6
Modeling event cascades using networks of additive count sequences (<i>Shin-suke Koyama</i>)	7
Statistical Definition of Bursting in Neural Spike Trains by Means of Novelty and Surprise Measure (<i>Emanuele Lucrezia</i> , Guenther Palm, Junji Ito and Sonia Gruen)	8
Channel density variability across hippocampal CA1 neurons (<i>Rosanna</i> <i>Migliore</i> , <i>Carmen Alina Lupascu</i> , <i>Luca Leonardo Bologna</i> , <i>Michele</i> <i>Migliore</i>)	0
On stochastic neuronal models integrating correlated inputs (<i>Enrica</i> <i>Pirozzi</i>)	1
Benefits of functional data analysis of evoked potentials (Ondřej Pokora and Jan Koláček)	3
A Pure Integrate and Fire model with Input-output Consistency (Laura Sacerdote, Federico Polito and Petr Lansky)	4

A Thalamocortical Network Model for Pathological and Healthy Dynamical	
Regimes (M. Saponati, G. Ceccarelli, L. Fronzoni, A. Mazzoni and	
E. Cataldo)	86
Inhibitory circuits in the antennal lobe of the honey bees (<i>Irina Sinake-</i>	
vitch, Cathrine Armengaud, Maxim Bazhenov and Brian H. Smith).	88
Can grid cell ensembles represent multiple spaces? (<i>Davide Spalla</i> , Sophie	
Rosay and Alessandro Treves)	89
Comparison of methods for detection of spatio-temporal patterns in multi-	
variate point processes (Alessandra Stella , Pietro Quaglio, Laura	
Sacerdote and Sonja Gruen)	91
Associative Transitions in Language Processing (Massimiliano Trippa	
and Alessandro Treves)	93
A study of dependency features of spike trains through copulas ($Pietro$	
Verzelli, Laura Sacerdote)	94
The Gamma renewal process as an output of a two compartment leaky	
integrate-and-fire neuronal model (A. Civallero, L. Sacerdote and C .	
Zucca)	95
List of participants	97
Author Index	101

$Talks \ \, ({\rm ordered} \ {\rm by} \ {\rm speaker's} \ {\rm family} \ {\rm name})$

Markov mixture of experts to decode limb trajectories from ECoG for Brain Computer Interfacing

Marie-Caroline Schaeffer, Alexandre Moly and **Tetiana Aksenova** Univ. Grenoble Alpes, CEA, LETI, CLINATEC, MINATEC Campus, 38000 Grenoble, France

Brain-Computer Interfaces (BCI) aim at interpreting brain activity patterns so as to translate user's intentions into effector actions without using the users' natural neuromuscular pathways. BCIs are particularly being investigated for the sake of severely motor-impaired patients. Most of them rely on the decoding of spiking activity patterns from invasive intercortical Microelectrodes array recordings or the decoding of neural population activity patterns acquired either by semiinvasive intracranial Electrocorticography (ECoG) arrays or by non-invasive scalp Electroencephalography arrays. In the present article, the estimation of overt movement trajectories from the activity of neuronal population acquired at the level of cerebral cortex surface (ECoG) is considered. A Markov mixture of linear experts (Markov Switching Linear Models, MSLM) is proposed [Schaffer and Aksenova, 2016] for the decoding. The MLSM is built on the assumption that linear models (experts) relate neural features and kinematic parameters of movement and are conditioned on a discrete latent variable (state). A probabilistic rule is used to combine the linear models associated with state values. The latent state variable is assumed to be generated by a first-order Markov chain. In a previous study [Schaffer and Aksenova, 2016, a MSLM was used to relate neuronal population features extracted from ECoG recordings and the corresponding kinematic parameters. A two-state MSLM was applied to decode an upper limb trajectory. States were associated with rest and movement periods. A single linear model conditioned on these states was used for mapping of neuronal features to a limb trajectory. In this case, both state sequence and trajectory were available when identifying the MLSM model on a training data set, i.e. model identification was fully supervised. Linear modelling may not be optimal for the description complex movements. Piecewise linear modelling is a way to introduce nonlinearity to decoder. A MSLM with multiple states associated with movement is considered in the present article to improve the decoding performance. Contrary to the previous study, state labels are not available during model identification, i.e. MSLM training is unsupervised with respect to state labels. An iterative Expectation-Maximization procedure is proposed for MSLM identification The proposed model was tested on a data set (http://neurotycho.org/) composed of neuronal signals (ECoG) and upper limb

movement trajectories [Shimoda et al., 2012] simultaneously acquired in nonhuman primates while they were performing a food reaching task. The performance of the unsupervised MSLM (U-MSLM, unsupervised with respect to state labels) decoder was assessed for wrist trajectory reconstruction. The U-MSLM was compared to a supervised 2-state (rest vs. movement) MSLM (S-MSLM) for the reconstruction of complex 3D multiphase movements. 3 recordings of multiphase movements were found in the data base. Time-frequency neuronal features were extracted using complex continuous wavelet transforms [Schaffer and Aksenova, 2016]. Results yield 1-10% improvement of U-MSLM vs. S-MSLM using Pearson Correlation Coefficient, Normalized Root Mean Squared Error, Normalized Mean Absolute Error performance indicators averaged over the 3 axes. The performance of the proposed algorithm is to be further investigated using a large set of recordings acquired during the "BCI and Tetraplegia" clinical research protocol which is currently in progress at CLINATEC, CEA, Grenoble, France (PI: Prof. Benabid).

- [1] Shimoda, Kentaro, et al. "Decoding continuous three-dimensional hand trajectories from epidural electrocorticographic signals in Japanese macaques." Journal of neural engineering 9.3 (2012): 036015.
- [2] Schaeffer, Marie-Caroline, and Tetiana Aksenova. "Switching Markov decoders forasynchronous trajectory reconstruction from ecog signals in monkeys for bci applications." Journal of Physiology-Paris 110.4 (2016): 348-360.

Networks of interacting components with macroscopic self-sustained periodic behavior

Luisa Andreis¹ and Daniele Tovazzi² ¹WIAS Institute – Berlin; ²Università degli Studi di Padova

The emergence of time-periodic self-organized collective behaviors in large communities of interacting units is of interest in neuroscience, because of its link to the mathematical explanation of neural oscillation in networks of interacting neurons. The attempt of modelling these non linear macroscopic behaviors in complex systems leads often to the choice of mean field models, since they give analytically tractable equations that may explain features which are not displayed at microscopic level. Therefore, toy models in this class have been recently used to understand how macroscopic rhythmic behavior may appear in systems where single units have no tendency to behave periodically [1, 2, 3, 4]. However, the question on how to describe in full generality the class of interactions able to give origin to oscillating behavior at the macroscopic level is still open. In this framework, we discuss some interacting mechanisms that have been proved to generate rhythmic behaviors and we focus on one particular model that shows several peculiar regimes. We will explain the flexibility of this model that, depending on the choice of the parameters, may exhibit different phase transitions and, for instance, the coexistence, at the macroscopic level, of several stable periodic orbits. The talk is based on [1], a joint work with Daniele Tovazzi.

- [1] L. A. and D. Tovazzi, Coexistence of stable limit cycles in a generalized Curie-Weiss model with dissipation. Preprint arXiv:1711.05129, 2017
- [2] F. Collet, P. Dai Pra and M. Formentin. Collective periodicity in mean-field models of cooperative behavior.NoDEA, 22(5):1461–1482, 2015.
- [3] S. Ditlevsen and E. Löcherbach. *Multi-class oscillating systems of interacting neurons*. Stochastic Processes and their Applications, 2016.
- [4] E. Luçon and C. Poquet. Emergence of oscillatory behaviors for excitable systems with noise and mean-field interaction, a slow-fast dynamics approach. Preprint (2018)

Continuous learning, sleep and memory consolidation

Maxim Bazhenov

University of California, San Diego

Memory depends on three general processes: encoding, consolidation and retrieval. Although the vast majority of research has been devoted to understanding encoding and retrieval, recent novel approaches have been developed in both human and animal research to probe mechanisms of consolidation. A story is emerging in which important functions of consolidation occur during sleep and that specific features of sleep appear critical for successful retrieval across a range of memory domains, tasks, and species.

Previously encoded memories can be damaged by encoding of new memories, especially when they are relevant to the new data and hence can be disrupted by new training – a phenomenon called "catastrophic forgetting". Sleep can prevent the damage by replaying recent memories along with the old relevant memories. Though multiple evidences point to the role of sleep in memory consolidation, exact mechanisms remain to be understood. In our study, we explored the neural substrates of memory consolidation involving replay of memory and task specific sequences of neurons.

We used computer models of the thalamocortical network capable of transitions between awake, stage 2 (N2), and stage 3 (N3) sleep through implementing effects of neuromodulators. The model generated characteristic sleep spindles in N2 and slow oscillations in N3. Spike-time dependent plasticity (STDP) was implemented on excitatory connections to model synaptic weight changes associated with encoding and consolidation. We found that sleep spindles (the hallmark of N2 stage sleep) and slow oscillations (the hallmark of N3 stage sleep) both promote replay of the spike sequences learned in the awake state and neuronal replay was localized near the trained network sites. Memory performance improved after a period of NREM sleep but not after the same period in awake. When multiple memories were trained, the local nature of the spike sequence replay during spindles allowed replay of the distinct memory traces independently, while slow oscillations promoted competition that could prevent replay of the weak memories in a presence of the stronger memory traces. This could potentially lead to extinction of the weak memories unless when sleep spindles (N2 sleep) preceded slow oscillations (N3 sleep), as observed during the natural sleep cycle.

Our study predicts that spontaneous reactivation of the learned neuronal sequences during sleep spindles and slow waves of NREM sleep represents a key mechanism of memory consolidation and the basic structure of sleep stages provides an optimal environment for consolidation of competing memories.

Detecting single-cell stimulation in recurrent networks of spiking neurons

Davide Bernardi and Benjamin Lindner

Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience, Berlin, Germany; Department of Physics, Humboldt University, Berlin

Theoretical and experimental studies suggest that cortical networks operate in a noisy chaotic regime, so that large populations are required to reliably code information [1]. This picture seems to be in contrast with experiments showing that the stimulation of a single cell in the barrel cortex can influence the behavior of an awake rat [2]. In this talk, we look for a possible theoretical explanation for this apparent contradiction: we investigate how the brief stimulation of one neuron in a recurrent spiking network can elicit a weak transient macroscopic change in the network activity and how this perturbation can be detected.

First, we consider a random network of integrate-and-fire neurons [3] with exponentially distributed synaptic weights [4]. Numerical simulations and analytical estimates show how a simple readout procedure can detect the perturbation with a reliability comparable to the experimental figures. To this end, the readout must be slightly biased toward specific neurons, a proxy for the training of the experimental subjects [5]. We discuss the role of the recurrent coupling strength and show that optimal detection is achieved for a broad range of intermediate values. Furthermore, we explore several possible implementations of the readout procedure in terms of a neural circuit and compare their performance. Remarkably, all explicit readout procedure introduced before [6]. Finally, we study a recurrent network model endowed with some features of the barrel cortex (cellular heterogeneity, dense inhibitory connectivity, short-term plasticity), the system in which the effect has been experimentally observed.

- M. London, A. Roth, L. Beeren, M. Häusser and P. E. Latham. Sensitivity to perturbations in vivo implies high noise and suggests rate coding in cortex. *Nature*, 466:123, 2010.
- [2] A. R. Houweling and M. Brecht. Behavioural report of single neuron stimulation in somatosensory cortex. *Nature*, 451:65, 2008.
- [3] N. Brunel. Dynamics of sparsely connected networks of excitatory and inhibitory spiking neurons. J. Comput. Neurosci., 8:183, 2000.
- [4] M. J. E. Richardson and R. Swarbrick. Firing-rate response of a neuron receiving excitatory and inhibitory synaptic shot noise. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 105:178102, 2010
- [5] D. Bernardi and B. Lindner. Optimal detection of a localized perturbation in random networks of integrate-and-fire neurons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 118:268301, 2017.

 $[6]\,$ D. Bernardi and B. Lindner. Detecting single-cell stimulation in a large network of integrate-and-fire neurons. In prep., 2018

Interplay of structural and functional properties in a simple locomotor network: a probabilistic model

Roman Borisyuk¹, Andrea Ferrario¹, Robert Merrison-Hort¹ and Stephen Soffe² ¹University of Plymouth; ²University of Bristol

Although, in most animals, brain connectivity varies between individuals, behaviour is often similar across species. It is known that brain development involves multiple stochastic processes and the individual connectomes are different. Despite differences in connectivity, most individuals under normal conditions are able to demonstrate similar functionality. This means that different connectomes include sufficient key structural features to produce a common repertoire of functionalities and behaviours. What are the key connectivity properties that define the network functionality? What fundamental structural properties are shared across individual networks that define this behaviour?

Motivated by this question, we derive a probabilistic model of connectivity in the Xenopus tadpole central nervous system (caudal hindbrain and spinal cord) to study the relationship between the structure and function of the network.

Our previously developed anatomical model based on the 'developmental' process of axon growth (Li et al., 2007; Borisyuk et al., 2011; Borisyuk et al., 2014; Roberts et al., 2014) generates multiple highly variable and nonhomogeneous connectomes. To deal with this large and complex data we design a very simple mathematical metamodel expecting that this new probabilistic model will reflect (generalise) structural properties of anatomical connectomes and show proper functioning (Ferrario et al., 2018).

We generate 1000 connectomes using a biologically realistic anatomical model. To design the probabilistic model we use a universal ordering of neurons in the tadpole which allows us to map one anatomical connectome to another one and calculate the probability of directed connection for each pair of neurons as the frequency at which the connection exists among the thousand generated connectomes. Thus, the probabilistic model is the matrix of probabilities of independent Bernoulli random variables. In this way, our probabilistic model 'generalizes' structural properties of networks produced by the anatomical model.

Using the probabilistic model, we can generate an adjacency matrix representing a particular realisation of neuronal connectivity. Mapping the adjacency matrix to a functional model of spiking neurons of Hodgkin-Huxley type (Roberts et al., 2014) enables us to simulate spiking activity. We compare these simulations of the functional model to the experimental results on swimming initiated by skin touch. The crucial question is: 'Can probabilistic connectomes produce swimming?' The answer to this is not obvious. Our earlier paper (Li et al., 2007) showed that a graph of connections based on probabilities derived from small number of pairwise recordings provides swimming in about 60% of cases only.

This new study shows that probabilistic connectomes that include some elements of the structure of anatomical connectomes reliably swim in all cases. We find that all generated probabilistic connectomes mapped to the functional model generate similar swimming activity. It seems, then, that the probabilistic model contains some fundamental features of the network connectivity ('proper structure') which ensure correct functioning of the system. Thus, we can derive an important conclusion that the two properties of the probabilistic model inherited from anatomical connectomes: (1) position of neurons along the rostro-caudal coordinates and (2) frequency of connection appearance, are sufficient for swimming generation.

We study how structural and functional features differ between detailed anatomical connectomes and those generated by our new, simpler, probabilistic model (metamodel). The probabilistic model allows calculation of structural characteristics that reflect common network properties, independent of individual network realisations. We use the structural characteristics to study examples of neuronal dynamics, in the complete network and various sub-networks, and this allows us to explain the basis for key experimental findings, and make predictions for experiments. We study how the connectivity characteristics relate to particular functional properties of the network. For instance, the average in- and out-degrees were used to predict the swimming period and to find the positions of reliably firing commissural interneurons (cINs).

It is clear that some characteristics of the probabilistic connectomes (e.g. the mean of in- and out-degrees) coincide with equivalent characteristics of the anatomical connectomes but some differ (e.g. the variances of in- and out-degrees are significantly smaller for probabilistic connectomes). Although there are some differences between the behaviour of anatomical and probabilistic connectomes, even studying these differences can provide important insights into the relationship between the structure and function of the network. For example, we find an explanation underlying a difference in swimming frequency between the two types of connectome: The anatomical and probabilistic connectomes have very different variances of cINs indegree from the descending interneurons (dINs). It would have been hard to observe this interesting phenomenon without having the probabilistic model (where in-degree variance is much lower) to compare with the anatomical one.

- [1] Borisyuk R, Al Azad AK, Conte D, Roberts A, Soffe SR. 2011. Modeling the connectome of a simple spinal cord. Frontiers in Neuroinformatics 5:20.
- [2] Borisyuk R, Al Azad AK, Conte D, Roberts A, Soffe SR. 2014. A developmental approach to predicting neuronal connectivity from small biological datasets: a gradient-based neuron growth model. PLoS One 9:e89461.
- [3] Ferrario A, Merrison-Hort R, Soffe S, Borisyuk R. 2018 Structural and functional properties of a probabilistic model of neuronal connectivity in a simple locomotor network. eLIFE, 7:e33281.
- [4] Li WC, Cooke T, Sautois B, Soffe SR, Borisyuk R, Roberts A. 2007. Axon and dendrite geography predict the specificity of synaptic connections in a functioning spinal cord network. Neural Development 2:17.
- [5] Roberts A, Conte D, Hull M, Merrison-Hort R, al Azad AK, Buhl E, Borisyuk

R, Soffe SR. 2014. Can simple rules control development of a pioneer vertebrate neuronal network generating behavior? Journal of Neuroscience 34:608-621.

Synchronization of heterogeneous neurons of different activity patterns in a mathematical model of a gap-junction coupled network

Hans Albert Braun and Aubin Tchaptchet Institute of Physiology, Philipps University of Marburg

The nervous system is composed of neurons of enormous heterogeneity. It is well known among experimentalist that no neuron, not even from the same brain area and of the same type, reacts in exactly the same way as any other one. The possible impact of such neuronal heterogeneity on neuronal network synchronization has been examined in a mathematical model of a network of nearest neighbour gap-junction coupled neurons during increasing coupling strength.

Heterogeneity has been introduced by Huber-Braun model neurons with randomization of the temperature as a scaling factor which can generate an enormous diversity of impulse pattern, including burst discharges, chaotic activity and two different types of tonic firing – all of them also experimentally observed in the peripheral as well as central nervous system.

When the network includes all these types of neurons, randomly selected, a particular phenomenon can be observed. At a certain coupling strength the network goes into a completely silent state although all neurons have originally been spontaneously firing driven by subthreshold oscillations. When parts of the neurons with specific patterns are taken out, especially the tonic firing neurons from the lower and upper extremes of temperature range, spontaneous firing can be reinstalled with further increasing coupling strength. Reinstalled firing develops from slowly increasing subthreshold oscillations and is always of the tonic firing type and already fairly well synchronized.

Examination of voltage traces and interspike-intervals of individual neurons suggests 1) that all neurons, irrespective of their original pattern, go through a well-known bifurcation scenario as observed on current injection eventually leading to subthreshold oscillations without spikes and 2) that synchronization continues in the silent state at the level of subthreshold oscillations. These data demonstrate that neuronal synchronization is far away from being only a matter of synaptic coupling. The dynamics of the individual neurons play a major role.

Modelling the relationship between self-control and consciousness

Chris Christodoulou

Department of Computer Science, University of Cyprus, Nicosia, Cyprus

In this paper we investigate the relationship between self-control behaviour and consciousness. Morsella et al. (2009) demonstrated that conscious conflicts involving delay of gratification (Mischel et al., 1989) such as self-control problems (i.e., choosing of a large delayed reward over a small immediate reward, Rachlin, 2000), lead to systematic changes in subjective experience (or "consciousness"). More specifically, by conducting experiments of the Stroop (1935) and Flanker (Eriksen and Schultz, 1979) task type, they observed that the stronger the conflict in the task, the higher the level of consciousness required. Problems in exercising self-control, suggest a conflict between cognition and motivation. This has been linked to brain-imaging studies, which have demonstrated that in such situations, parts of the limbic system and regions of the prefrontal cortex compete for the decision (McClure et al., 2004). As Kavka (1991) suggests, such inner conflicts are resolved as if they were a result of strategic interaction among rational subagents. A computational model of interpersonal conflict we developed (Cleanthous and Christodoulou, 2009; Christodoulou et al., 2010) consists of two agents learning simultaneously but independently, competing in the Iterated Prisoner's Dilemma (IPD) game (Rappoport and Chammah, 1965). The IPD can be thought of demonstrating interpersonal conflict (Kavka, 1991), where the Cooperate-Cooperate (CC) outcome corresponds to the behaviour of self-control. The structure of internal conflict is represented by the IPD's payoff matrix. An internal conflict of low to moderate intensity for example, would have a Temptation payoff (T) just slightly higher than the Reward for mutual cooperation (R) and a Sucker's payoff (S) slightly lower than the Punishment for mutual defection (P), meaning that the agents would be less tempted to defect and less afraid to cooperate (Cleanthous, 2010). T represents the value of the immediate gratification, while S reflects the cost of getting the least immediate gratification. Thus increasing T while decreasing S results in an internal conflict of strong intensity (e.g., addiction) as the conflict between Cooperate-Defect (CD) and Defect-Cooperate (DC) outcomes increases. From these observations it can be deduced that the differentiation of conflict intensity in our model results from the modification of the payoff differences T-S, T-R and P-S. Given this and inspired by the work of Morsella et al. (2009) described above (where they relate the conflict level with consciousness), consciousness is represented in our model by the internal conflict and its level can be altered based on these payoff differences. In particular, the greater these differences are, the stronger the conflict becomes and thus the greater the level of consciousness. We simulated a version of our previous self-control computational model (Cleanthous and Christodoulou, 2009; Christodoulou et al., 2010) based on look up tables, one for each agent representing different parts of the brain, the limbic system and the prefrontal cortex, playing the IPD and trained with temporal difference reinforcement learning. In order to investigate the relationship between self-control behaviour and consciousness we used a simple hill climbing local search for altering the payoff values of the look up tables such that the most appropriate values are found which give the highest possible

self-control outcome (CC). We also incorporated the concept of consciousness in the model through the payoff value differences, which were modified by the hill climbing local search algorithm in order to give the agents different levels of consciousness. According to the results, while the level of consciousness was reduced by the hill climbing algorithm, the more the urge was by the agents to learn to cooperate. In other words, as the level of consciousness is reduced, the level of self-control is increased. It was also observed that in the case of very strong initial conflict indicating a very high level of consciousness, the hill climbing algorithm was able to greatly reduce the payoff value differences such that a higher level of self-control was developed. Concluding, the results from our computational model indicate that self-control and consciousness are reversely proportional, which confirm the psychological findings of Morsella et al. (2009). Effectively as self-control is learned, the level of conflict becomes weaker and so do the perturbations in consciousness. We can also say that learning in our computational model of self-control can be used for regulating a conscious conflict and thus the level of simulated consciousness.

- Christodoulou, C., Banfield, G. and Cleanthous, A. (2010). Self-control with spiking and non-spiking neural networks playing games. Journal of Physiology -Paris, 104, 108-117.
- [2] Cleanthous, A. (2010). In search of self-control through computational modelling of internal conflict. PhD Thesis, University of Cyprus.
- [3] Cleanthous, A. and Christodoulou, C. (2009). Is self-control a learned strategy employed by a reward maximizing brain? BMC Neuroscience, 10(Suppl 1):P14.
- [4] Eriksen, C. W. and Schultz, D. W. (1979). Information processing in visual search: A continuous flow conception and experimental results. Perception and Psychophysics, 25, 249-263.
- [5] Kavka, G. (1991). Is individual choice less problematic than collective choice? Economics and Philosophy, 7, 143-165.
- [6] McClure, S. M., Laibson, D. I., Loewenstein, G. and Cohen, J. D. (2004). Separate neural systems value immediate and delayed monetary rewards. Science, 306, 503-507.
- [7] Mischel, W., Shoda, Y. and Rodriguez, M. (1989). Delay of gratification in children. Science, 244, 933-938.
- [8] Morsella, E., Gray, J. R., Krieger, S. C. and Bargh, J. A. (2009). The essence of conscious conflict: subjective effects of sustaining incompatible intentions. Emotion, 9, 717-728.
- [9] Rachlin, H. (2000). The Science of Self-Control. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- [10] Rappoport, A. and Chammah, A. M. (1965). Prisoner's dilemma. Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- [11] Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. Journal of Experimental Psychology, 18, 643-662.

Multi-area models as data integrators and building blocks

Markus Diesmann

 Institute of Neuroscience and Medicine (INM-6) and Institute for Advanced Simulation (IAS-6) and JARA Institute Brain Structure-Function Relationships (INM-10), Jülich Research Centre. (2) Department of Psychiatry, Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, School of Medicine, RWTH Aachen University. (3) Department of Physics, Faculty 1, RWTH Aachen University

Cortical architecture, i.e. the area-specific cellular and laminar composition of the cortical network, is related to the connectivity between areas, which forms a hierarchical and recurrent network at the brain scale. Based on earlier work on the cortical microcircuit, our recent study [1] integrates data on cortical architecture and axonal tracing data into a multi-scale framework describing one hemisphere of macaque vision-related cortex. We represent each area by the network below one square millimeter of cortical surface. These circuits are modeled with their natural number of neurons and synapses. Simulations confirm a realistic activity regime after adjustments of the connectivity within the margins of error [2] with the help of mean-field theory. At a sufficiently large coupling between the areas, spike patterns, the distribution of spike rates, and the power spectrum of the activity are compatible with in-vivo resting-state data. Furthermore, the matrix of correlations between the activities of areas is more similar to the experimentally measured functional connectivity of resting-state fMRI than the anatomical matrix. This correspondence on multiple spatial scales is achieved in a metastable state exhibiting time scales much larger than any time constant of the system.

While many anatomical and dynamical aspects of the brain are still unknown, such models integrate the available data, constitute testbeds for theories of brain function, and serve as research platforms for iterative improvements and building blocks for further studies. There are, however, two technical challenges to overcome.

First, models have reached such a complexity that only executable model descriptions enable the effective communication between scientists and the reproducibility of results. Furthermore, the information required to instantiate a model in the memory of a computer is only one aspect of the modeling process. The experimental data entering the model span multiple scales and come from different sources. Algorithms are required to collocate the data and derive the final model parameters. Often, data are only partially available such that quantitative hypotheses need to be formulated to bridge the gaps. As a consequence researchers can only add new data to the model or modify assumptions if they have access to the construction process. Therefore, the workflow of data integration also needs to be documented in an executable format. Borrowing techniques from computer science we demonstrate on the example of our multi-area model the development of a publishable executable workflow of model construction and discuss the difficulties we encountered in the process.

Second, simulating multi-area models at the level of resolution of neurons and synapses taxes the largest supercomputers available. There is a technological barrier for the further increase of network size as potentially enabled by the memory and compute power offered by exascale systems. Present simulation code distributes the activity of all neurons to all compute nodes and only subsequently filters out the locally required information. This strategy becomes unfeasible in terms of memory for networks larger than 1 billion neurons. The number of incoming connections to a neuron in the cerebral cortex is, however, limited to the order of 10,000. Therefore, at the brain scale, connectivity is extremely sparse. The talk introduces a twotier connection infrastructure and a framework for directed communication among compute nodes [3]. This novel technology removes the scaling of local memory consumption with network size and disburdens compute nodes from the need to filter the incoming data. Although the new algorithms and data structures address exascale computers, they do not sacrifice performance on small systems and exhibit substantial performance gains already at the petascale. The technology is presently being integrated into the next release of the NEST simulation code. As seen in the study of the multi-area model, mean-field approximations support the exploration of parameter ranges and ultimately it will be useful to simulate different parts of a network at different levels of description. For this reason NEST has been extended by the capability to integrate rate-based models [4].

Still, solving the equations for microscopically parallel system on conventional computers with their rather coarse-grained parallelism consumes considerable energy and reaching real-time or accelerated speeds is difficult. Therefore, we also explore neuromorphic computing as an alternative for brain research. The talk presents recent progress in this area [5], where a microcircuit model at full density of local synapses runs for the first time on the SpiNNaker hardware system. The finding is relevant because the model already comes close to the total number of synapses received by neurons in all larger cortical networks.

The open development of NEST is guided by the NEST Initiative. Partial funding comes from the Human Brain Project through EU grants 604102, 720270, and 78590; and from the German Research Council (DFG grant SPP 2041). Use of the JUQUEEN supercomputer in Jülich was made possible by the JARA-HPC Vergabegremium and provided on the JARA-HPC Partition (VSR computation time grant JINB33).

- Schmidt M, Bakker R, Hilgetag CC, Diesmann M, van Albada SJ. Brain (2018) Brain Struct Func 223(3):1409-1435
- [2] Schuecker J, Schmidt M, van Albada SJ, Diesmann M, Helias M (2017) PLOS Comput Biol 13:e1005179
- [3] Jordan J, Ippen T, Helias M, Kitayama I, Mitsuhisa S, Igarashi J, Diesmann M, Kunkel S (2018) Front Neuroinform 12:2
- [4] Hahne J., Dahmen D., Schuecker J., Frommer A., Bolten M., Helias M., Diesmann M. (2017) Front in Neuroinform 11:34
- [5] van Albada SJ, Rowley AG, Senk J, Hopkins M, Schmidt M, Stokes AB, Lester DR, Diesmann M, Furber SB (2018) Front Neurosci 12:291

Analysis of interspike intervals of a resonate-and-fire neural model with periodic drive

Luigi Marangio¹, Stefano Galatolo¹, Leone Fronzoni², Santi Chillemi³ and **Angelo Di Garbo**³

¹Dipartimento di Matematica, Universita' di Pisa (Italia); ²Dipartimento di Fisica, Universita' di Pisa (Italia); ³CNR - Istituto di Biofisica, Pisa (Italia)

The understanding of the basic mechanisms shaping the response of a single neuron to stimulations is a fundamental step for improving our knowledge on the functional processes underlying the coding of sensory information in neural populations [1-3]. To this aim, an important approach consists in the study of phase-locking patterns or synchronization phenomena in simple neuron mathematical models subject to periodic inputs. To partially reduce the intrinsic complexity of these problems, a useful strategy is that of employing simplified, but still realistic, neuron models, such as the integrate-and-fire class [4-9]. Therefore, in keeping with the above remarks, we studied the dynamics of a resonate-and-fire neural model in the presence of periodic driving. The adopted model was introduced in [10] and is a two dimensional nonsmooth dynamical systems with a threshold crossing firing mechanisms. This model was obtained by linearization of the well-known FitzHugh-Nagumo neural model. We studied the effects of a sinusoidal forcing on the firing discharges generated by this model and, in particular, on its phase-locking patterns. The statistical properties of the distribution of interspike intervals were investigated by studying the dynamical properties of the corresponding firing map. Lastly, the effects of the addition of noise on the synchronization properties of the system were also studied.

- E. Kheradpezhouh, M. Adibi, E. Arabzadeh. Response dynamics of rat barrel cortex neurons to repeated sensory stimulation. Scientific Reports, vol. 7, Article number: 11445 (2017).
- [2] W. Singer. Neuronal oscillations: unavoidable and useful? European Journal of Neuroscience, doi:10.1111/ejn.13796 (2018).
- [3] Y. Yuan, N. Pang, Y. Chen, Y. Wang, X. Li. A Phase-Locking Analysis of Neuronal Firing Rhythms with Transcranial Magneto-Acoustical Stimulation Based on the Hodgkin-Huxley Neuron Model. Front Comput. Neurosci., doi: 10.3389/fncom.2017.00001 (2017).
- [4] J.P. Keener, F.C. Hoppensteadt, J. Rinzel. Integrate-and-fire models of merve membrane mesponse to oscillatory input. SIAM J. Appl. Math., vol. 41, p. 503-517 (1981).
- [5] P. Lansky. Sources of periodical force in noisy integrate-and-fire models of neuronal dynamics. Phys. Rev. E, vol. 55, p. 2040-2043 (1997).

- [6] J. Laudanski, S. Coombes, A. R. Palmer, C. J. Sumner. Mode-Locked Spike Trains in Responses of Ventral Cochlear Nucleus Chopper and Onset Neurons to Periodic Stimuli. Journal of Neurophysiology, vol. 103, p. 1226-1237 (2010)
- [7] J.R. Engelbrecht, K. Loncich, R. Mirollo, M.E. Hasselmo, M. Yoshida. Rhythminduced spike-timing patterns characterized by 1D firing maps. J. Comp. Neurosci., vol. 34, p. 59-71 (2013).
- [8] W. Marzantowicz, J. Signerska. On the interspike-intervals of periodically-driven integrate-and-fire models. J. Math. Anal. Appl., vol. 423, p. 456-479 (2015).
- [9] R. Brette. Dynamics of one-dimensional spiking neuron models. J. Math. Biol., vol. 48, p. 38-56 (2004).
- [10] A. Di Garbo, M. Barbi, S. Chillemi. Dynamical behavior of the linearized version of the FitzHugh-Nagumo neural model. Int. J. Bifurcation Chaos, vol. 11, p. 2549-2558 (2001).

Oscillating systems with cointegrated phase processes

Jacob Østergaard¹, Anders Rahbek² and **Susanne Ditlevsen¹** ¹Department of Mathematical Sciences, University of Copenhagen; ²Department of Economy, University of Copenhagen

We present cointegration analysis as a method to infer the network structure of a linearly phase coupled oscillating system. By defining a class of oscillating systems with interacting phases, we derive a data generating process where we can specify the coupling structure of a network that resembles biological processes. In particular we study a network of Winfree oscillators, for which we present a statistical analysis of various simulated networks, where we conclude on the coupling structure: the direction of feedback in the phase processes and proportional coupling strength between individual components of the system. We show that we can correctly classify the network structure for such a system by cointegration analysis, for various types of coupling, including uni-/bi-directional and all-to-all coupling. Finally, we analyze a set of EEG recordings and discuss the current applicability of cointegration analysis in the field of neuroscience.

Bibliography

[1] J. Østergaard, A. Rahbek and S. Ditlevsen. Oscillating systems with cointegrated phase processes. *Journal of Mathematical Biology*, 75(4), 845–883, 2017.

On diffusion neuronal models with multiplicative noise Giuseppe D'Onofrio, Petr Lansky

Institute of Physiology of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague 4, Czech Republic

The diffusion leaky integrate-and-fire (LIF) model is commonly used to study the changes in the neuronal membrane depolarization between two consecutive spikes of a single neuron and is described by an Itô stochastic differential equation of the following type (see for instance [5])

$$dY_t = \left(-\frac{Y_t}{\theta} + \mu\right)dt + a(Y_t)dW_t, \quad Y_0 = y_0, \tag{1}$$

where the diffusion coefficient $a(Y_t)$ determines the amplitude of the noise. We consider model (1) such that the function $a(\cdot)$ depends on the process itself and on postsynaptic reversal potentials. Models with different choices of $a(Y_t)$ are considered and compared. The processes have the same deterministic part but different stochastic components. The differences in the state-dependent variabilities, their asymptotic distributions, and the properties of the first-passage time across a constant threshold are investigated. Computationally easy expressions of the first moment of the first-passage time for the Feller process [2], for the Inhomogeneous Geometric Brownian Motion [1] and for the Jacobi process [3]-[4] are derived and implemented to determine the role played by the parameters involved in the model.

Acknowledgements

This work was partially supported by the Institute of Physiology RVO:67985823 and by the Czech Science Foundation project 17-06943S.

- G. D'Onofrio, P. Lansky and E. Pirozzi. On two diffusion neuronal models with multiplicative noise: The mean first-passage time properties. *Chaos: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Nonlinear Science*, 28(4), 043103, 2018.
- [2] W. Feller. Two singular diffusion problems. Ann. Math., 54, 173–182, 1951.
- [3] J. Forman and M. Sorensen. The Pearson diffusions: A class of statistically tractable diffusion processes. *Scandinavian Journal of Statistics*, 35, 438–465, 2008.
- [4] V. Lanska, P. Lansky, and C.E. Smith. Synaptic transmission in a diffusion model for neural activity. J. Theor. Biol., 166(4), 393–406, 1994.
- [5] H. Tuckwell. Introduction to Theoretical Neurobiology: Volume 2, Nonlinear and Stochastic Theories, part of Cambridge Studies in Mathematical Biology. Cambridge University Press, 2005. ISBN: 9780521019323

Framework for estimation and interpretation of biomarkers for brain dynamics from fMRI

Matthieu Gilson, Andrea Insabato, Vicente Pallarés, Gorka Zamora-López and Gustavo Deco

Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Barcelona, Spain

The brain is a massively-connected network of neuronal populations with specialized regions that interact to process information. Non-invasive neuroimaging techniques such as functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) are more and more used to explore mechanisms for cognition in healthy human subjects and alterations in neuropathologies. Functional connectivity (FC) measures the level of correlated activity between brain regions and has been demonstrated as a proxy to describe how "interactions" within the brain are modulated, e.g., when a subject engages a task. We have recently proposed a framework to estimate effective connectivity (EC), which aims to quantify directional interactions between brain areas at the whole-brain level [1]. Our current direction of research is to evaluate to which extent EC provides a biomarker for the brain dynamical state, in the sense that the estimated EC from individual fMRI sessions (5-10 minutes) can be used to discriminate between tasks performed by subjects. On the clinical side, EC can be used to aid diagnostic by characterizing patterns of alterations in EC as compared to healthy subjects. Our approach relies on a dynamic model to reproduce the propagation of fMRI activity across brain regions, for a parcellation of the brain divided in about 100 regions [1]. Importantly, this model is constrained by structural connectivity (SC), which measures anatomical white-matter projections between brain regions. All three types of connectivities are represented in Figure 1. SC determines the topology of EC, which typically corresponds to a density of 30% among all possible connections between the brain regions. For 100 brain regions, the model fitting procedure must robustly estimate 3000 EC weights, which provides a biomarker in a high dimensional space. Here we present recent results for two lines of research. First, we have benchmarked the capabilities of EC as a biomarker to identify the identities of subjects and the task they perform, using machine-learning techniques [2]. Our results show that EC is a more accurate biomarker than FC to identify subjects. In addition, we demonstrate how EC-based signatures can be extracted to identify subjects on the one hand and tasks on the other hand. This is important in a practical context such as clinical applications to avoid the contamination of pathology-specific EC signatures by subject-to-subject variability. In addition, we have recently explored how to transpose task identification at a shorter timescale in fMRI recordings (~1 minute) using dynamic FC. In essence, this is important to evaluate the stability over time of the estimated "brain dynamical state". Together, our results about classification from fMRI measurements aim to provide a well-benchmarked framework for fMRI-based biomarkers. Second, we present a network-specific analysis of EC estimates. Because of its high-dimensional nature, EC matrices are difficult to interpret at the level of single connections when comparing them across conditions. To overcome this limitation, we have developed a formalism that describe how EC weights collectively determine the propagation of fMRI activity across brain regions, bridging with graph theory [3]. It provides a consistent approach for brain dynamics from estimation

to interpretation, allowing for the characterization of the EC topology (e.g., small worldness, hierarchical modules) and detection of communities of brain regions.

- Gilson M, Moreno-Bote R, Ponce-Alvarez A, Ritter P, Deco G (2016) "Estimation of directed Effective Connectivity from fMRI Functional Connectivity Hints at Asymmetries of Cortical Connectome." PLoS Comput Biol 12: e1004762; doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004762
- [2] Pallarés V, Insabato A, Sanjuán A, Kühn S, Mantini D, Deco G, Gilson M (2018) "Subject- and behavior-specific signatures extracted from fMRI data using whole-brain effective connectivity." Neuroimage 178: 238-254; https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.04.070
- [3] M. Gilson, N. E. Kouvaris, G. Deco, and G. Zamora-López (2018) "Framework based on communicability and flow to analyze complex network dynamics" Phys Rev E 97, 052301; https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevE.97.052301

Quasi-patterns of Phase Synchronization

Priscilla E. Greenwood¹ and Lawrence L. Ward²

¹Department of Mathematics, University of British Columbia; ²Department of Psychology, University of British Columbia

A family of stochastic processes has quasi-cycle oscillations if its otherwisedamped oscillations are sustained by noise. Such a family forms the reaction part of a stochastic reaction-diffusion system when we insert a local Mexican Hat-type, difference of Gaussians, coupling on a one-dimensional and on a two-dimensional lattice. We find that the phases of the quasi-cycles synchronize rapidly at coupling strengths lower than those required to produce spatial patterns of their amplitudes. The phase patterns persist and evolve but do not induce patterns in the amplitudes. At higher coupling strengths we find quasi-patterns both of phase synchronization and of amplitude (resembling Turing patterns) corresponding to the phase patterns. Specific properties of these patterns are controlled by the parameters of the reaction and of the Mexican Hat coupling.

Energy-efficient information transfer at synapses and energy-dependent learning rules

Renaud Jolivet

University of Geneva and CERN

The nervous system consumes a disproportionate fraction of the resting body's energy production. In humans, the brain represents 2% of the body's mass, yet it accounts for 20% of the total oxygen consumption. Expansion in the size of the brain relative to the body and an increase in the number of connections between neurons during evolution underpin our cognitive powers and are responsible for our brains' high metabolic rate. Despite the significance of energy consumption in the nervous system, how energy constrains and shapes brain function is often under-appreciated. I will illustrate the importance of brain energetics and metabolism, and discuss how the brain trades information for energy savings in the visual pathway. Indeed, a significant fraction of the information those neurons could transmit in theory is not passed on to the next step in the visual processing hierarchy. I will discuss how this can be explained by considerations of energetic optimality. Finally, I will discuss how energetic considerations modulate learning and coding in neural networks, and lead to coding strategies similar to data compression algorithms, where frequently observed inputs are encoded in low energy trajectories of the neural network.

Synaptically shaping working memory codes

Zachary P. Kilpatrick

University of Colorado Boulder, Boulder, Colorado, USA

In working memory tasks, the response pertaining to a particular item can be biased by distractor items presented on the current trial or even items from previous trials, a phenomenon known as interference. Subjects performing visual working memory (WM) tasks can exhibit interference in their responses in different ways. First, the recalled target location can be biased in the direction of the target presented on the previous trial. Second, the remembered location of multiple items can interact during the delay period of a WM task. We will explore how both of these effects can disrupt the WM code, and develop a theory for how such biases are shaped by changes to the synaptic efficacy of the networks in which memory states are stored.

We will begin by presenting a probabilistic inference model of history-dependent bias, and demonstrate such inference can emerge from computations of a recurrent network with short-term facilitation (STF). Applying timescale separation methods, we obtain a low-dimensional description of the interference bias based on the target history. Delay-period activity is approximated by a particle in a slowly varying potential, attracting the particle in the direction of the previous stimulus. Target angles drawn from repetitive sequences are thus encoded better retained in WM than targets drawn from uncorrelated sequences. We also show that two timescales of memory degradation emerge in the delay-period activity, indicative of the slow timescale of STF dampening fluctuations later in the delay.

We then turn our attention to studying how multiple-item WM codes can be shaped by synaptic changes. Classic conceptions of WM capacity assume a finite number of slots, but recent evidence suggests WM may be a continuous resource. Resource models typically assume there is no hard upper bound on the number of items that can be stored, but WM fidelity decreases with the number of items. We analyze a neural field model of multi-item WM that associates each item with the location of a bump in a finite spatial domain, considering items that span a one-dimensional continuous feature space. Leveraging our previous techniques, we can reduce the dynamics of bumps to that of interacting particles, whose strength of interactions is shaped by the network synaptic strength. Our analysis thus relates the neural architecture of the network to accumulated errors and capacity limitations arising during the delay period of a multi-item WM task. Networks with stronger synapses support wider bumps that interact more, whereas networks with weaker synapses support narrower bumps that are more susceptible to noise perturbations. There is an optimal synaptic strength that both limits bump interaction events and the effects of noise perturbations, leading to the most efficient code for a particular item number count. This optimum shifts to weaker synapses as the number of items stored in the network is increased. Our model not only provides a neural circuit explanation for WM capacity, but also speaks to how the capacity of the code relates to the arrangement of stored items in a feature space.

This framework can be extended to study how long-term plasticity shapes neural architecture in networks to better execute evidence accumulation, as animals learn relevant features of the environment in other cognitive tasks. Ultimately, there is a great deal of promise in uncovering how biophysical mechanisms of probabilistic inference can determine more efficient cognitive coding.

- [1] Z. P. Kilpatrick, Synaptic mechanisms of interference in working memory, Scientific Reports, 8 (2018), p. 7879.
- [2] N. Krishnan, D. B. Poll, and Z. P. Kilpatrick, Synaptic efficacy shapes resource limitations in working memory, Journal of computational neuroscience, 44 (2018), pp. 273–295.

Estimation of synaptic connections from parallel spike trains

Ryota Kobayashi^{1,2}, Shuhei Kurita³, Katsunori Kitano⁴, Kenji Mizuseki⁵, Barry J. Richmond⁶ and Shigeru Shinomoto⁷

¹National Institute of Informatics, Tokyo, Japan; ²Department of Informatics, SOKENDAI (The Graduate University for Advanced Studies), Tokyo, Japan; ³Graduate School of Informatics, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan; ⁴Department of Information Science and Engineering, Ritsumeikan University, Kusatsu, Japan; ⁵Department of Physiology, Osaka City University Graduate School of Medicine, Osaka, Japan; ⁶Laboratory of Neuropsychology, NIMH/NIH/DHHS, Bethesda, USA; ⁷Department of Physics, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan

Advanced techniques of multiunit spike recording started to provide us with a huge number of spike trains. From the acquired spike signal, we might infer the underlying neuronal circuitry, that is, the synaptic connections between neurons. Here we develop a method for estimating synaptic connections from spike trains recorded from multiple neurons based on the generalized linear model (GLM) [1, 2, 3]. The estimation performance of the model is evaluated by applying it to a synthetic data from a network of Hodgkin-Huxley type model neurons. Furthermore, our method is applied to rat hippocampal data.

- Truccolo, W., Eden, U.T., Fellows, M.R., Donoghue, J.P., and Brown, E.N. A point process framework for relating neural spiking activity to spiking history, neural ensemble, and extrinsic covariate effects. J. Neurophysiol., 93(2), 1074– 1089, 2005.
- [2] Gerstner, W., Kistler, W.M., Naud, R., and Paninski, L. Neuronal dynamics: From single neurons to networks and models of cognition, Cambridge University Press, 2014
- [3] Zaytsev, Y.V., Morrison, A., and Deger, M. Reconstruction of recurrent synaptic connectivity of thousands of neurons from simulated spiking activity. J. Comput Neurosci. 39(1):77–103, 2015.

Neuronal population size and reliable information transmission

Lubomir Kostal¹ and Ryota Kobayashi²

¹Institute of Physiology CAS, Prague, Czech Republic; ²National Institute of Informatics, Tokyo, Japan

Optimal information decoding serves as a guiding principle for understanding fundamental questions in theoretical neurosciences. The problem often involves analysis of the Shannon limits for information representation and transmission in neural populations. It is well known that the probability of decoding error has a phase transition at information rate equal to channel capacity. The corresponding thermodynamic limit, however, requires the coding dimension to tend to infinity, thus making the actual decoding practically impossible. In this paper we focus on the finite-size effects that occur in realistically limited neural populations. We examine the achievable information rate in dependence on the population size, and illustrate our findings assuming independent Hodgkin-Huxley neurons responding to individual stimulus patterns. We report that, remarkably, the achievable rate approaches the asymptote in a strikingly non-linear manner as the number of active neurons increases. We identify the critical population size below which reliable information transmission deviates significantly from the fundamental limit. Qualitatively, our findings do not seem to depend on the details of the neuronal model. We hope that our results will stimulate further research into non-asymptotic phenomena and their impact on optimal neural population size or structure.

Acknowledgements: The Czech Science Foundation project 17-06943S to L.K. and JST ACT-I Grant No. JPMJPR16UC to R.K.

Short- and long-term adaptation in moth olfactory receptor neurons

Marie Levakova

Institute of Physiology of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic

Adaptation of a moth olfactory system to a pheromone exposure begins at the level of olfactory receptor neurons (ORNs) located at the antenna. Adaptation processes manifest on different timescales. A rapid adaptation, lasting tens to hundreds of milliseconds, emerges when an ORN is exposed to a constant stimulus. After tens of seconds, the adaptation results in an adjustment of response amplitudes to the most frequent patterns of stimulation.

The rapid adaptation can be observed in the typical phasic-tonic time course of the ORN firing rate in response to a constant stimulus. We developed a simple mathematical model of moth ORNs, which can reproduce this behavior. The model employs a simplified description of the chemical kinetics leading to the activation of olfactory receptors [1] that govern opening of ion channels. The stimulus-triggered conductance is incorporated into the leaky integrate-and-fire (LIF) model. It can be demonstrated that an adaptation mechanism in the form of an adaptive threshold [2] is necessary to reproduce real data.

In a longer perspective, the adaptation affects neuronal coding. The efficient coding hypothesis [3] predicts that sensory neurons adjust their coding resources in order to optimally represent the stimulus statistics of their environment. Stimulation by an odorant in a natural environment is characteristic by rapid fluctuations in the actual concentration and the statistics of the fluctuation timescales depends on the distance from the odorant source [4]. We analyzed encoding of a pheromone by moth ORNs using Fisher information on experimental recordings obtained in a naturalistic environment [5]. Our results are in agreement with the prediction that ORNs adjust their encoding properties to represent the timescale statistics of a given distance from the pheromone source. This is manifested, for example, in the fact that the most frequent stimulus timescales are encoded with maximum accuracy.

- K. E. Kaissling. Olfactory perireceptor and receptor events in moths: a kinetic model. *Chem. Senses*, 26:125–150, 2001.
- [2] R. Kobayashi, Y. Tsubo and S. Shinomoto. Made-to-order spiking neuron model equipped with a multi-timescale adaptive threshold. *Front. Comput. Neurosci.*, 3, 2009.
- [3] H. B. Barlow. Possible principles underlying the transformation of sensory messages in Sensory Communication, volume 121 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. MIT Press, 217-234, 1961.
- [4] A. Celani, E. Villermaux and M. Vergassola. Odor Landscapes in Turbulent Environments. *Phys. Rev. X*, 4:041015, 2014.
[5] M. Levakova, L. Kostal, C. Monsempès, V. Jacob and P. Lucas. Moth olfactory receptor neurons adjust their encoding efficiency to temporal statistics of pheromone fluctuations. *Submitted*.

Benefits of fluctuations and heterogeneity for the signal transmission in single neurons and neural populations

Benjamin Lindner

Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience, Berlin, Germany; Physics Department of the Humboldt University Berlin, Germany

It is known for quite some time that noise can have a beneficial effect on the signal transmission in nonlinear systems such as neurons or neural populations. In my talk I review a few new developments regarding this idea. I show that up-down fluctuations can boost the information flow in a generic scenario of population coding [1]. Furthermore, I compare the differential effects of dynamic noise in homogeneous populations vs parameter heterogeneity in populations of deterministic neurons [2]. Finally, I explore at the single-cell level whether the multiplicative character of synaptic background noise (which enters as a conductance noise and not as a current noise) can additionally improve the neural information transmission [3].

- [1] F. Droste and B. Lindner Up-down-like background spiking can enhance neural information transmission *eNeuro* **4**, e0282-17 (2017)
- M. Beiran, A. Kruscha, J. Benda and B. Lindner Coding of time-dependent stimuli in homogeneous and heterogeneous neural populations J. Comp. Neurosci. 44, 189 (2017)
- [3] J. Bauermann and B. Lindner Multiplicative noise is beneficial for the transmission of sensory signals in simple neuron models (in prep. 2018)

Inference in complicated mixture models with application in neuroscience and visual attention

Kang Li and Susanne Ditlevsen Department of Mathematical Sciences, University of Copenhagen

Mixture models arise when we assume the observation is driven by a discrete number of hidden components. Most statistical and machine learning tools that tackle mixtures rely on certain parametric observation models that describe the distributions of observed data conditional on the hidden component, which, in many real applications, can be complicated distributions. Here we consider mixture models with complicated observation model where the log-likelihood objective is computationally expensive and highly non-convex. Given the observation model (with known parameters) and observed data, we aim to cluster the data according to the hidden components, as well as to estimate the parameters describing each component. Standard methods with maximum log-marginal-likelihood and the expectation-maximization (EM) algorithm using random initial parameters, are slow and perform poorly due to the expensive and non-convex objective function. In this research, we attempt to overcome the difficulties in complicated mixture models. We suggest the hard-assigned EM for complicated mixtures to save computational burden, and propose new parameter initialization schemes for the EM or the marginal likelihood procedure: one extending the k-means++ to consider arbitrary model distribution, and the other relying on novel ideas of data pre-clustering in a space of log-likelihood distances that describe relationships among data.

Simulation studies are conducted in a neuroscience and visual attention environment, under the framework of Neural Theory of Visual Attention (NTVA), which concerns the visual attentional mechanism when the eyes see multiple separated stimulus objects. The central idea in NTVA states that one neuron in the brain can only attend one stimulus object at any given time, and single objects are attended by the neuron with probabilities. Therefore, the full statistical model for the multiple unknown stimulus objects given neural observation is a mixture model. We consider the decoding (inference) problem where the model parameters are assumed known, and we aim to estimate the stimulus objects and cluster the data into categories. Depending on the data in real applications, we may have very complicated mixture model, or very large data sets. This raises the aforementioned problem of complicated mixture models. In this NTVA framework, we conduct three experiments with distinct but all widely-studied models, including leaky integrate-and-fire models, point process models and models based on directed acyclic graph structures (e.g. artificial neural networks). For these experiments, we also use different stimulus types and observation formats, with various optimization methods: Nelder-Mead, gradient descent and simulated annealing. The results show that the proposed methods provide consistently better performance over conventional approaches in all simulation experiments.

Description of sound intensity and frequency encoding in the human auditory periphery

Petr Marsalek

Institute of Pathological Physiology, First Medical Faculty, Charles University in Prague

In the auditory nerve, sound frequency is encoded by location of the neuron along the tonotopic axis and sound intensity is encoded by the recruitment of spikes both across neurons and within the firing rate of individual neurons.

This simple textbook wisdom describing auditory periphery becomes more complicated, when we attempt to describe complex sounds ecologically relevant for human. These complex sounds are speech sounds, speech in babble noise and sounds just above the hearing threshold. In sound frequencies lower than maximum firing rate of individual neurons, sound frequency encoding uses also temporal spike timing. In the encoding of the complex sounds, a difference of single spike per second is not sufficient for encoding sound level difference discrimination observed psychophysically. Therefore more advanced encodings are taking place in the auditory periphery.

We use combined theoretical and psychophysical approach to describe the coexistence of temporal and rate code in the auditory nerve and two subsequent nuclei in the auditory periphery up to the first binaural neurons in the medial and lateral superior olive. Psychophysical data and own experiments, mathematical simulations and abstract models using the concept of the ideal observer are used.

Our aim is to arrive to a description consistent with the human auditory nerve information throughput, with the psychophysical performance and also consistent with the re-learning capabilities of impaired hearing listeners using hearing aids or cochlear implants.

PCIe: a novel data robust perturbational complexity index to assess consciousness in human subjects

Thierry Nieus¹, Silvia Casarotto¹, Adenauer Casali² and Marcello Massimini¹
¹Department of Biomedical and Clinical Sciences "L. Sacco", University of Milan, Milan, Italy; ²Institute of Science and Technology, Federal University of Sao Paulo, Sao Jose dos Campos, Brazil

Theoretical considerations suggest that consciousness depends upon an optimal balance between functional integration and functional segregation of brain activities. In order to condense these properties in a single number, our group has introduced the Perturbational Complexity Index (PCI) in the field of TMS/EEG human recordings [1]. The PCI has been shown to [2]: 1) discriminate between consciousness and uncosciousness with 100% sensitivity and specificity on a benchmark population, 2) detect minimal conscious state (MCS) patients with a 94.7% sensitivity, 3) allow to identify a number of unresponsive vegetative state (VS) patients who might be conscious albeit unable to express it in behavior. The pipeline to compute PCI involves a series of steps that are time consuming and alternative approaches are therefore desirable to speed up its computation. Here we introduce a novel index, called PCI evoked (PCIe), in which cortical currents are calculated from averaged EEG sensor responses. The PCIe provides to be more data robust and quicker to compute than the standard PCI. The TMS/EEG data are from previous works of our group [1, 2]. The EEG responses to TMS at the sensors level were obtained as the average across repetitions of the same pulse; then, source modelling was performed on the averaged traces. In particular, we imposed a real geometry with boundary element model (BEM) with triangular tessellations for the conductive head volume and solved the inverse problem with the weighted minimum norm approach. The significant cortical activations were determined with respect to iAAFT surrogates generated from prestimulus activity. The algorithm to compute the Lempel-Ziv complexity was essentially the same of [1, 2] but we also tested different rankings and normalizations of the matrix of significant activations [3]. The data analysis pipeline we developed is based on MNE, an open source Python module for EEG data. Preliminary results on a subset of data [3] show that PCIe provides a good separation between the wake and sleep states. Therefore, the univocal ranking and novel normalization of significant activations proposed in this work significantly contribute to improve computation of complexity of TMS/EEG recordings. We will share the Python based pipeline on the HBP platform and this will extend previous softwares [3] (called "collabs") released from our laboratory (e.g. "A Theoretically Based Index of Consciousness"). Hopefully, the PCIe will simplify the use and increase the applicability of the complexity index to human data, to non-human data (e.g. cell culture, slices, and in-vivo preparations) as well as to non-biological preparations (e.g. neuromorphic circuits, computer simulations).

Bibliography

 A. G. Casali, O. Gosseries, M. Rosanova, M. Boly, S. Sarasso, K. R. Casali, S. Casarotto, M.-A. Bruno, S. Laureys, G. Tononi, and M. Massimini. A theoretically based index of consciousness independent of sensory processing and behavior. Science Translational Medicine 5(198):198ra105–198ra105, 2013.

- [2] Silvia Casarotto, Angela Comanducci, Mario Rosanova, Simone Sarasso, Matteo Fecchio, Martino Napolitani, Andrea Pigorini, Adenauer G. Casali, Pietro D. Trimarchi, Melanie Boly, Olivia Gosseries, Olivier Bodart, Francesco Curto, Cristina Landi, Maurizio Mariotti, Guya Devalle, Steven Laureys, Giulio Tononi, and Marcello Massimini. Stratification of unresponsive patients by an independently validated index of brain complexity: Complexity index. Annals of Neurology 80(5):718–729, 2016.
- [3] Thierry Nieus, Silvia Casarotto, Adenauer G. Casali, and Marcello Massimini. Revisiting the definition of the perturbational complexity index. 5th Annual Human Brain Project Summit, Glasgow, 17-20 October, 2017

Intersection information: a new mathematical concept that probes the relationship between sensory information and behavioral discrimination performance

Giuseppe Pica and Stefano Panzeri

Neural Computation Laboratory, Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia, Rovereto, Italy

Determining how much of the sensory information carried by a neural code contributes to behavioral performance is key to understand sensory function and neural information flow. However, there are as yet no analytical tools to compute this information that lies at the intersection between sensory coding and behavioral readout. Here we present our work on how to address this issue. We developed a novel measure, that we termed the intersection information, that quantifies how much of the sensory information carried by a neural response is used for behavior during perceptual discrimination tasks. We derived two versions of this measure. The first [1] is defined through simple stimulus decoding algorithms and quantifies the match, within individual trials, between the stimulus decoded by neural activity and what the animal reports. The second [2] was defined through information theory. In particular, building on the Partial Information Decomposition framework, we define the information-theoretic intersection information as the part of the mutual information between the stimulus and the response that also informs the consequent behavioral choice. We illustrate the use of intersection information with the analysis of two experimental cortical datasets [3,4], to show how this measure can be used to compare quantitatively the contributions of spike timing and spike rates to task performance, and to identify brain areas or neural populations that specifically transform sensory information into choice. We also discuss how this measure could be used to assess the role of noise correlations on the behavioral performance in performing perceptual discrimination tasks.

- S. Panzeri, C.D. Harvey, E. Piasini, P.E. Latham, T. Fellin, (2017) Cracking the neural code for sensory perception by combining statistics, intervention and behaviour. Neuron 93: 491-507
- [2] Pica, G., Piasini, E., Safaai, H., Runyan, C.A., Diamond, M.E., Fellin, T., Kayser, C., Harvey, C.D., and Panzeri, S. (2017) Quantifying how much sensory information in a neural code is relevant for behavior. Neural Information Processing Systems (NIPS 2017), in press.
- [3] Runyan C. A., Piasini E., Panzeri S., Harvey C. D. (2017) Distinct timescales of population coding across cortex, Nature: 548: 92-96
- [4] Y. Zuo, H. Safaai, G. Notaro, A. Mazzoni, S. Panzeri, M.E. Diamond (2015) Complementary Contributions of Spike Timing and Spike Rate to Perceptual Decisions in Rat S1 and S2 Cortex. Current Biology 25: 357-363

Behavior related precise spatio-temporal spike patterns

Pietro Quaglio¹, Alessandra Stella¹, Emiliano Torre², Alexa Riehle³, Thomas Brochier³ and Sonja Gruen¹

¹Institute of Neuroscience and Medicine (INM-6, INM-10) and Institute for Advanced Simulation (IAS-6) and JARA Brain Institute I (INM-10), Jülich Research Centre, Jülich, Germany; ²Chair of Risk, Safety and Uncertainty Quantification, ETH Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland; ³Institut de Neurosciences de la Timone, UMR 7289, CNRS-AMU, Marseille,

France

Cell assemblies [1], i.e. interacting groups of neurons, were suggested as the building blocks of information processing in the cortex. Modern electrophysiological techniques allow to record hundred(s) of neurons simultaneously and thereby hopefully increase the chances to observe active cell assemblies. Their activity is assumed to be expressed by synchronous or spatio-temporal spike patterns (STPs) [2,3], i.e. temporal sequences of millisecond precision. Here we present an extension of the Spike Pattern Detection and Evaluation method (SPADE) [4,5], which allows one to detect repeated activation of STPs in parallel spike trains recordings. The method consists of two main steps: a) detection of repeated STPs (classified as pattern candidates) by using Frequent Itemset Mining (FIM) in sliding windows along the data, b) statistical testing of the pattern candidates through a bootstrap technique to distinguish STPs occurring by chance from those that are statistically significant. We show how crucial it is to perform the statistical evaluation independently for patterns of different lengths. Firing rate modulation on different temporal scales as well as using different sliding windows for pattern detection on the same data may result in different significance levels for patterns of different lengths. Therefore we evaluate now the significance of patterns of different lengths separately. We validate the method in terms of false positives and true positives using a variety of simulated point processes that model different pattern lengths and further aspects of neuronal activity (e.g., firing rate heterogeneity, correlated firing rate changes). We apply this extended SPADE version to parallel spike train data recorded from pre-/motor cortex of non-human primates [6], thereby extending the previous analysis of the same data for synchronous patterns [7] to precise patterns with temporal lags. The monkeys performed a delayed reach to grasp task: after a preparatory period, they had to pull and hold an object by using either a side or a precision grip, and using either high or low force (resulting in four different behavioral conditions). Our goal is to test the hypothesis that different cell assemblies are activated at different points in time in relation to the behavior. Therefore recordings of the same set of neurons were analyzed for the occurrence of significant STPs in different behavioral epochs and in the four different behavioral conditions. We found a variety of significant patterns that show specificity to the behavior. Altogether, these findings provide evidence for the occurrence of behavior-specific STPs.

Bibliography

[1] Hebb, D. O. (1949). The organization of behavior: A neuropsychological approach. John Wiley & Sons

- [2] Singer, W., Engel, A. K., Kreiter, A. K., Munk, M. H. J., Neuenschwander, S., Roelfsema, P. R. (1997) Neuronal assemblies: necessity, signature and detectability. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 1, 252-261
- [3] Harris, K. (2005) Neural signatures of cell assembly organization. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 5, 339-407
- [4] Torre E, Picado-Muiño D, Denker M, Borgelt C, Grün S (2013) Statistical evaluation of synchronous spike patterns extracted by frequent item set mining. Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience, 7:132.
- [5] Quaglio, P., Yegenoglu, A., Torre, E., Endres, D., Grün, S. (2017). Detection and Evaluation of Spatio-Temporal Spike Patterns in Massively Parallel Spike Train Data with SPADE. Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience, 11.
- [6] Riehle A, Wirtssohn S, Grün S, Brochier T (2013) Mapping the spatio-temporal structure of motor cortical lfp and spiking activities during reach-to-grasp movements. Frontiers in Neural Circuits, 7:48
- [7] Torre, E., Quaglio, P., Denker, M., Brochier, T., Riehle, A., & Grün, S. (2016). Synchronous spike patterns in macaque motor cortex during an instructed-delay reach-to-grasp task. Journal of Neuroscience, 36(32), 8329-8340.

Inhibitory Clustering and Spike Frequency Adaptation: Crucial Features in Modeling Cortical Dynamics

Vahid Rostami¹, Thomas Rost¹, Sacha J. van Albada² and Martin P. Nawrot¹ ¹Computational Systems Neuroscience, University of Cologne, Germany; ²Institute of Neuroscience and Medicine (INM-6) and Institute for Advanced Simulation (IAS-6) and JARA Institute Brain Structure-Function Relationships (INM-10), Forschungszentrum Jülich, Germany

Balanced networks of inhibitory and excitatory neurons with homogeneously random recurrent connectivity are often employed to model local cortical circuits. A recent series of studies [1-3] has extended the balanced random network model to incorporate clusters of strongly interconnected excitatory neurons with no modularity in the inhibitory population. This clustered topology demonstrates a functionally desired multistability where different clusters become spontaneously activated and inactivated. The model captures a realistic high firing variability of single neurons and a reduction in trial-to-trial variability during stimulation of clusters as observed experimentally [4-5].

We recently showed that, despite the multistability and trial-to-trial variability that emerge in the clustered excitatory network, this topology leads to widely separated firing rate states of single neurons and tends quickly towards firing rate saturation, which is inconsistent with experimental observations. To overcome this problem we incorporated two biologically plausible mechanisms.

First, we introduced clusters of inhibitory neurons, which are coupled to each excitatory cluster [6]. This connectivity scheme is not directly supported by experimental findings. However, recent anatomical and physiological studies point to increased local inhibitory connectivities and possible inhibitory clustering through connection strengths [7-10]. Here we model different architectures of inhibitory circuits, based on these recent experimental studies, and investigate the role of inhibitory clusters on the multistability and trial-to-trial variability of the spiking network when excitatory clusters have strengthened connections with different portions of the inhibitory population. Our model can be reduced to the case of exclusively excitatory clusters [2], or to a one-to-one correspondence of inhibitory and excitatory clusters [6], but we explore all different architectures in between these extreme cases. Such intermediate scenarios are more consistent with recent experimental observations.

Recent studies with large-scale recordings [11] argue for the importance of spike frequency adaptation (SFA) in accounting for cortical network dynamics. Indeed SFA is a prominent feature in cortical neurons [12]. We previously showed that adaptation has a strong effect on cortical variability dynamics [13]. We, therefore, include SFA in our model and study its effect on cortical attractor dynamics.

We find that inhibitory clustering is necessary to achieve realistic spiking activity under stimulation in terms of a biologically realistic firing rate, spiking regularity, and trial-to-trial spike count variability. Inhibitory clustering achieves the desired attractor dynamics over a wide range of network parameters and thus makes networks robust against parameter fluctuations due to homeostasis or neuromodulation. Remarkably, when the stimulus is weak, without clustering of inhibitory neurons, the spiking network model fails to capture the reduction of trial-to-trial variability during stimulation. Including cellular mechanisms of SFA adds a second temporal component to variability dynamics and similarly enhances robustness of attractor dynamics against variation in network parameters.

Acknowledgments:

This work is supported by the German Science Foundation under the Institutional Strategy of the University of Cologne within the German Excellence Initiative (DFG-ZUK 81/1).

- [1] Deco, Hugues (2012) PLOS Comput. Biol., 8(3): e1002395.
- [2] Litwin-Kumar, Doiron (2012) Nat. Neurosci., 15(11), 1498–1505.
- [3] Mazzucato et al. (2015) J. Neurosci. 35(21):8214–8231.
- [4] Churchland et al. (2010) Nat. Neurosci. 13(3):369-78.
- [5] Rickert et al. J Neurosci 29(44):13,870-82.
- [6] Rost, Deger, Nawrot (2017) Biol. Cybern., doi: 10.1007/s00422-017-0737-7.
- [7] Xue, Atallah, Scanziani (2014) Nature, 511(7511), 596–600.
- [8] Lee et al., (2014) Neuron 82, 1129–1144.
- [9] Morishima et al., (2017) Cereb. Cortex 27, 5846–5857.
- [10] Znamenskiy et al. (2018) bioRxiv 294835; doi: https://doi.org/10.1101/294835.
- [11] Stringer et al. (2016) eLife. 5: e19695.
- [12] Lundstrom et al. Nat. Neurosci. 11: 1335–1342.
- [13] Farkhooi et al. PLoS Comput Biol 9(10): e1003251.

The role of network architecture in the onset of Local and Global Up states

Diletta Pozzi¹, Nicolo Meneghetti², **Anjan Roy**³, Beatrice Pastore⁴, Alberto Mazzoni², Matteo Marsili³, Vincent Torre⁵

¹Neurobiology Sector, International School for Advanced Studies (SISSA), Trieste, Italy; ²Computational Neuroengineering Lab, The Biorobotics Institute, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Pontedera (PI), Italy; ³Abdus Salam International Center for Theoretical Physics (ICTP), Trieste, Italy; ⁴Neurobiology Sector, International School for Advanced Studies (SISSA), Trieste, Italy; ⁵Neurobiology Sector, International School for Advanced Studies (SISSA), Trieste, Italy, & Cixi Institute of Biomedical Engineering (CNITECH), Ningbo Institute of Materials Technology and Engineering, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Zhejiang, P. R. China, & Center of Systems Medicine, Chinese Academy of Medical

Sciences, Suzhou Institute of Systems Medicine (ISM), Suzhou Industrial Park, Suzhou, Jiangsu, P.R. China

The spontaneous electrical activity of several brain regions – and in particular of the cortex – shows rapid transitions between periods of intense and synchronous firing (Up states) and of reduced or almost absent electrical activity (Down states) [1–3]. These transitions have been observed in vivo [4] as well as in cortical slices [5] and also when afferent cortical inputs were destroyed. These observations show that this intermittent behavior is intrinsic to the neuronal network and is not caused by the modulation of external inputs [6]. However, the role of network's architecture in this intermittent behavior has not yet been established. By means of Calcium imaging, we studied the spontaneous activity of neuronal networks in their native conformation (i.e. cortical and hippocampal brain slices) and after disruption of the original anatomical structure (i.e. dissociated cell cultures from the same tissues). We observed an intermittency between silent states (Down states), synchronous but localized states (Up states) and synchronous diffused states (Global Up states) with different properties depending on the type of network analyzed. We next developed minimal models able to describe the intermittency and differences observed between the different types of networks (i. e. slices, dissociated cultures) with a very limited number of free parameters (i. e. 3/4). This approach is complementary to those developed in current large projects as the Blue Brain Project, Human Brain Project and Allen Brain Initiative where modelling involves an extremely large number of parameters. The results of our simulations suggest that the differences between native and dissociated networks are due to the multilayer organization of the former ones, and that Global Up states could originate from long-tailed distributions of intervening biophysical parameters such as connectivity and dissipation. The longtailed distributions of biophysical parameters implies the presence of resonances in neuronal networks. However, the specific connectivity determines the duration and intensity of these resonances. The combination of these two factors are at the basis of the ongoing properties of the nervous system and of its ability to process information.

- Luczak, A., Barthó, P., Marguet, S. L., Buzsáki, G. & Harris, K. D. Sequential structure of neocortical spontaneous activity in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104, 347–352 (2007).
- [2] Steriade, M., Nuñez, A. & Amzica, F. A novel slow (< 1 Hz) oscillation of neocortical neurons in vivo: depolarizing and hyperpolarizing components. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 13, 3252–3265 (1993).
- [3] Timofeev, I., Grenier, F. & Steriade, M. Disfacilitation and active inhibition in the neocortex during the natural sleep-wake cycle: an intracellular study. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 1924–1929 (2001).
- [4] Petersen, C. C. H., Grinvald, A. & Sakmann, B. Spatiotemporal dynamics of sensory responses in layer 2/3 of rat barrel cortex measured in vivo by voltagesensitive dye imaging combined with whole-cell voltage recordings and neuron reconstructions. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 23, 1298–1309 (2003).
- [5] Sanchez-Vives, M. V. & McCormick, D. A. Cellular and network mechanisms of rhythmic recurrent activity in neocortex. Nat. Neurosci. 3, 1027–1034 (2000).
- [6] Compte, A. et al. Spontaneous High-Frequency (10-80 Hz) Oscillations during Up States in the Cerebral Cortex In Vitro. J. Neurosci. 28, 13828–13844 (2008).

Inferring the source of fluctuations in neuronal activity

Shigeru Shinomoto¹, Shinsuke Koyama² and Kazuki Fujita¹
¹Department of Physics, Kyoto University, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan; ³The Institute of Statistical Mathematics, Tokyo, Japan

Neuronal activity fluctuates greatly not only when animals are stimulated extrinsically, but also in the absence of stimulus [1,2]. We have found out recently that the Hawkes process describing self-excitation [3] may exhibit large fluctuations even in the absence of external stimulation [4,5]. Alternatively, fluctuations may be realized simply by generating point events from the inhomogeneous Poisson process that describes the extrinsic stimulus. Given a spike train recorded in vivo, we wish to estimate the relative contributions of internal excitation and external stimulation. For this purpose, we developed an Empirical Bayesian framework equipped with the self-exciting interaction term and applied it to spike trains. We shall demonstrate the result and also present related issues.

- [1] S Ostojic, Nat. Neurosci. 17:594-600 (2014).
- [2] B Doiron et al., Nat. Neurosci. 19:383-393 (2016).
- [3] AG Hawkes, Biometrika 58:83-90 (1971).
- [4] T Onaga and S Shinomoto, Rhys. Rev. E89:042817 (2014).
- [5] T Onaga and S Shinomoto, Sci Rep. 6:33321 (2016).

Spatiotemporal characteristics of bursting and avalanches in cultures of cortical neurons

Jewel YunHsuan Lee and Michael Stiber

Computing and Software Systems Division, School of STEM, University of Washington, Bothell, WA, USA

Cortical cell cultures exhibit bursting behavior in which the entire culture participates [4, 3]. These cultures also produce "neuronal avalanches", which have been viewed as having scale invariance consistent with being in a self-organized critical state [1, 2]. The current work presents results from closed-loop simulations of neuron-activity-driven network development [3], and the full spiking activity of all neurons in that developing network, that suggests bursts are a separate category of behaviors that involve wave-like propagation from a single point and occur at the scale of the entire network and that the inter-burst activity is more properly viewed as scale invariant.

Acknowledgments:

J.Y.L. acknowledges support from the UW Bothell Computing & Software Systems Division. MS thanks the Fulbright program of the US Dept. of State and the Czech Republic Fulbright Commission for their support.



Figure 1: Example of a typical whole-network burst. Each image includes 10ms of activity; darker shade corresponds to large number of spikes by that particular neuron. Images are 30ms apart (entire sequence is 210ms).



1.6 1.4 Speed (ms gation 8.0 Propaga 0.2 6000 1000 2000 3000 5000 8000 9000 10000 7000 4000 Burst Number

Figure 2: Probability of occurrence vs. avalanche size (number of spikes). Avalanches defined as sequences of spikes separated by interspike intervals less than overall mean. Stationary activity during last 1/4 of simulation. Line of best fit for $p = f^{-\beta}$ computed for avalanches smaller than 10⁴ spikes, yielding $\beta = -2.53$. Total of 19,183,767 avalanches for full simulation, with 2 to 55,202 spikes.

Figure 3: Burst speed during network development for individual bursts (points) and moving average of 100 bursts (line). Speeds were calculated from burst image data by identifying (x, y) centroid of initial cluster of spikes (the *origin*) and, for each window, computing distance to those neurons producing the most spikes, then averaging over the burst, excluding the first and last 50ms.



Figure 4: Burst origins (9729 bursts). Left: (x, y) origin of each burst (*) and their sequence (lines). Right: x (top) and y coordinates of burst origins, plotted versus burst number. Initial wide range of locations settles down to small number that alternate randomly; groups of "active origins" changes over time.

Bibliography

 P. Bak, C. Tang, and K. Wiesenfeld. Self-organized criticality: An explanation of the 1/f noise. *Physics Review Letters*, 59(4):381–384, 1987.

- [2] J. Beggs and D. Plenz. Neuronal avalanches in neocortical circuits. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(35):11167–11177, 2003.
- [3] F. Kawasaki and M. Stiber. A simple model of cortical culture growth: burst property dependence on network composition and activity. *Biological Cybernetics*, 108(4):423–443, June 2014.
- [4] J. van Pelt, P. S. Wolters, M. A. Corner, and W. L. Rutten. Long-term characterization of firing dynamics of spontaneous bursts in cultured neural networks. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 51(11):2051–62, Nov. 2004.

The Jacobi diffusion process as a neuronal model

Giuseppe D'Onofrio¹, **Massimiliano Tamborrino**² and Petr Lansky³ ¹University of Torino, ²Institute for Stochastics, Johannes Kepler University Linz, Austria;

³Institute of Physiology, Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic

The Jacobi process is a stochastic diffusion characterized by a linear drift and a special form of multiplicative noise which keeps the process confined between two boundaries. One example of such a process can be obtained as the diffusion limit of the Stein's model of membrane depolarization which includes both, excitatory and inhibitory reversal potentials. The reversal potentials create the two boundaries between which the process is confined. Solving the first-passage-time problem for the Jacobi process, we found closed-form expressions for mean, variance and third moment, that are easy to implement numerically. The first two moments are used here to determine the role played by the parameters of the neuronal model. Namely, the effect of multiplicative noise on the output of the Jacobi neuronal model with inputdependent parameters is examined in detail and compared with the properties of the generic Jacobi diffusion. It appears that the dependence of the model parameters on the rate of inhibition turns out to be of primary importance to observe a change in the slope of the response curves. This dependence also affects the variability of the output as reflected by the coefficient of variation. It often takes values larger than one and it is not always a monotonic function in dependency on the rate of excitation.

Gaussian process regression for decoding multineuron spike trains

Taro Tezuka

University of Tsukuba, Japan

Gaussian process regression is a non-linear extension of multivariate analysis, and has been widely used in classification and regression tasks. It provides a useful mean of decoding information expressed in neural activity. Continuous signals with time-varying magnitudes such as EEG and LFP can readily be analyzed by Gaussian process using frameworks developed for time series analysis. However, since a spike train is a sequence of event occurrences, a new method to deal with such a data structure. One natural way to use Gaussian process regression for such data is to define a positive-definite kernel specific to spike trains. Various single-neuron spike trains have been proposed and used for decoding already.

One interesting generalization of this is to extend the domain to multineuron spike trains, which has become increasingly common in recent years. Some spike train kernels have been extended to multineuron spike trains, which are simultaneously recorded spike trains obtained from multiple neurons. However, most of these multineuron extensions were carried out in a kernel-specific manner. In this presentation, I introduce a general framework for extending any single-neuron spike train kernel to multineuron spike trains. The framework is based on the R-convolution kernel. A few specific subclasses of the proposed R-convolution linear combination kernel are explored as well. These subclasses have a smaller number of parameters and make optimization tractable when the size of data is limited.

The proposed positive-definite kernel was evaluated using Gaussian process regression for multineuron spike trains recorded from an animal brain. It was compared with the sum kernel and the population Spikernel, which are existing ways of decoding multineuron spike trains using kernels. The results showed that the proposed approach performs better than these kernels and also other commonly used neural decoding methods.





Figure 5: Same-neuron and cross-neuron similarities between spike trains.

Figure 6: A single-neuron spike train and a multineuron spike train.



Figure 7: Decoding errors of various methods applied to CRCNS PVC-3 data set. Decoding error represents angular difference between estimated direction and correct direction in degrees. For each condition (direction), decoding errors were obtained by leave-one-out cross-validation using 4/5 of whole data set.

Bibliography

[1] T. Tezuka. Multineuron spike train analysis with R-convolution linear combination kernel. *Neural Networks*, 102:67-77, Elsevier, 2018.

Parameter Estimation through Approximate Bayesian Computation for Stochastic Neural Mass Models

Irene Tubikanec, Massimiliano Tamborrino and Evelyn Buckwar

Institute for Stochastics, Johannes Kepler University Linz, Austria

In this talk we perform statistical inference for a stochastic neural mass model using approximate Bayesian computation. Stochastic neural mass models are used to describe the electrical activity of a whole population of neurons with average properties, and have been reported to reproduce, for example EEG/MEG/SEEG data. Here we focus on a specific reformulation of the Jansen and Rit neural mass model [1] as a stochastic differential equation (JR-SDE) with additive noise [2]. We can analyse this new stochastic version of the model through its dynamical and structural properties. In particular, we are interested in estimating some parameters that have been shown to be relevant for the description of α -rhythmic and epileptic behaviour.

In [2], the authors declared that the JR-SDE can be re-formulated as a stochastic Hamiltonian equation, which enabled them to prove its ergodicity. This guarantees that the distribution of the 6-dimensional solution process $X(t) = (X_0(t), ..., X_5(t))^T$, $t \in [0, T]$ converges exponentially fast towards a unique invariant measure and allows us to extract important statistical properties from single sample paths.

Here we perform statistical inference for this stochastic model, making use of a numerical splitting scheme that has been shown to preserve the structural model properties, differently from commonly used schemes, such as the Euler Maruyama method [2]. From an experimental point of view, the solution process $(X(t))_{t \in [0,T]}$ is partially observed through the EEG-related stochastic process $Y(t) = X_1(t) - X_2(t)$, $t \in [0,T]$. Two main difficulties arise: First, due to the fact that the non-linear and multi-dimensional SDE cannot be explicitly solved, the dynamics of the signal process $(Y(t))_{t \in [0,T]}$ can be only simulated through the numerical scheme. Second, the corresponding underlying likelihood function is intractable. We tackle this last issue by considering the likelihood-free and simulation based approximate Bayesian computation (ABC) approach [3]. This is a Bayesian technique that necessitates plenty of synthetic data simulations from the original model.

In the proposed statistical analysis, the crucial part is to define reliable distance criteria to successfully compare the simulated synthetic signals with the observed reference data. Due to the large variability in the data generated by the JR-SDE, neither the calculation of distances between the data itself nor the use of standard summary statistics work. Even more sophisticated and common distances for time series fail. To overcome this difficulty, we propose to transform the signal data from time to frequency domain by considering the corresponding spectral density. The spectral density depends on parameters that directly affect the frequency as well as the amplitude and, therefore, carries significant dynamical and structural information.

By this clever use of the parameter dependent structural and dynamical properties of the system, the ABC approach, with the adopted numerical splitting method, is able to provide satisfactory estimates of the parameters of interest.

- B.H. Jansen and V.G. Rit. "Electroencephalogram and visual evoked potential generation in a mathematical model of coupled cortical columns." In: Biological cybernetics, 73(4):357-366 (1995)
- [2] M. Ableidinger, E. Buckwar, and H. Hinterleitner. "A Stochastic Version of the Jansen and Rit Neural Mass Model: Analysis and Numerics." In: The Journal of Mathematical Neuroscience 7(8) (2017)
- [3] M.A. Beaumont, W. Zhang, D.J. Balding. "Approximate Bayesian computation in population genetics". Genetics, 162(4):2025-2035 (2002)

Neurocoding via graph structure

Tatyana Turova

Mathematical Centre, University of Lund, Sweden, and IMPB – Branch of KIAM, Russian Academy of Science

We study a model of random synaptic connections grown according to a biologically plausible algorithm introduced in [1]. We derive the distributions of small subgraphs in the resulting network in dimensions 2 and 3. This helps us to address the question of efficiency of storage and of transmission of information in the network. In particular, we investigate the role of small cycles and of multiple connections in the network performance.

Bibliography

[1] F. Ajazi, G. Napolitano, T. Turova and I. Zaurbek. Structure of a randomly grown 2-d network. *Biosystems*, 105-112, 2015.

Attractor dynamics and spatiotemporal patterns of neural activity

Alessandro E.P. Villa

NeuroHeuristic Research Group, University of Lausanne, Switzerland

The sequence of spikes of a neuron may carry important information processed by the brain and thus may underlie cognitive functions and sensory perception, but random variation, noise, and reliability observed in the nervous system pose serious questions to the definition and meaning of neural coding [8, 10]. A substitution scheme where the message to be encoded is replaced by a special set of symbols defines the term 'coding' in information science. However, this definition seems hard to hold for representation of information in the nervous system. Firstly, substitution codes are essentially static because they are defined by fixed rules. If the rules change over time the message cannot be deciphered and will be misinterpreted. Secondly, it seems unlikely to exist a small fixed set of symbols to be encoded or decoded in the nervous system. Experimental evidence exist of spatiotemporal patterns of neuronal discharges, also referred to as preferred firing sequences, that correspond to repeated ordered and precise interspike interval relationships which recur above chance levels [9]. The possibility to fit such patterns into substitution codes appears rather remote and further evidence revealed the presence of deterministic chaotic attractors in experimental recordings [7, 3]. An association between spatiotemporal firing patterns and chaotic attractor dynamics was observed in theoretical [1] and large scale neuronal networks simulations with embedded neuro-developmental features [5]. In other words the whole time series of spike occurrences is assumed to be an expression of some fundamental process governing the activity of the neurons being recorded. When a specific input pattern activates a cell assembly, the neurons are activated following a certain mode. Then, a mode of activity defines how an information is processed within a neural network and how it is associated to the output pattern of activity that is generated. In this framework the state of the neural network is defined by a set of parameters characterizing the neural network at a certain time. Then, the state of the network at any time is represented by the values of these parameters and particular invariant states of a neural network activity are referred to as attractor states [4, 1]. Then, sequences of states determined by the network dynamics define the *attractors*, whose stability in the face of continuous perturbations is a hallmark of attractor dynamics and offer the required persistence for coding a certain function [6]. The relatively simple framework of Boolean networks has the advantage to allow a complete analysis of the attractor dynamics of the networks. In this framework the attractors correspond precisely to the cycles in the graphs of their corresponding automata, and can thus be computed explicitly and exhaustively [2]. This talk presents the latest findings of this approach and shows how theoretical information science, graph theory and computational neuroscience contribute to new insights towards the exploration of neural coding.

- Y. Asai and A. E. P. Villa. Reconstruction of underlying nonlinear deterministic dynamics embedded in noisy spike trains. J Biol Phys, 34:325–340, 2008.
- [2] J. Cabessa and A. E. P. Villa. An attractor-based complexity measurement for boolean recurrent neural networks. *PLoS One*, 9:e94204, 2014.
- [3] A. Celletti and A. E. P. Villa. Determination of Chaotic Attractors in the Rat Brain. J Stat Phys, 84:1379–1385, 1996.
- [4] S. L. Hill and A. E. P. Villa. Global spatio-temporal activity influenced by local kinetics in a simulated cortical neural network. In H. Herrmann, D. Wolf, and E. Poppel, editors, *Supercomputing in Brain Research : from Tomography to Neural Networks*, pp. 371–378. World Scientific, 1995.
- [5] J. Iglesias and A. E. P. Villa. Recurrent spatiotemporal firing patterns in large spiking neural networks with ontogenetic and epigenetic processes. J Physiol Paris, 104:137–146, 2010.
- [6] M. I. Rabinovich, P. Varona, A. I. Selverston, and H. D. I. Abarbanel. Dynamical principles in neuroscience. *Rev Mod Phys*, 78:1213–1265, 2006.
- [7] P. E. Rapp, I. D. Zimmerman, A. M. Albano, G. C. Deguzman, and N. N. Greenbaun. Dynamics of spontaneous neural activity in the simian motor cortex: the dimension of chaotic neurons. *Phys Lett A*, 110:335–338, 1985.
- [8] J. P. Segundo. What can neurons do to serve as integrating devices? J Theor Neurobiol, 5:1–59, 1986.
- [9] I. V. Tetko and A. E. P. Villa. A pattern grouping algorithm for analysis of spatiotemporal patterns in neuronal spike trains. 2. Application to simultaneous single unit recordings. *J Neurosci Meth*, 105:15–24, 2001.
- [10] A. E. P. Villa. Empirical Evidence about Temporal Structure in Multi-unit Recordings. In R. Miller, editor, *Time and the brain*, volume 3 of *Conceptual Advances in Brain Research*, Chapter 1, pp. 1–61. Harwood Academic Publishers (CRC Press), London, UK, 2000.

$Posters \ ({\rm ordered} \ {\rm by} \ {\rm presenter's} \ {\rm family} \ {\rm name})$

Baseline-corrected space-by-time tensor factorizations for decoding population spike trains

Arezoo Alizadeh¹, Arno Onken^{1,2} and Stefano Panzeri¹

¹Center for Neuroscience and Cognitive Systems, Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia, Corso Bettini 31, 38068 Rovereto, Italy; ²Institute for Adaptive and Neural Computation, School of Informatics, Edinburgh University, EH8 9AB Edinburgh, UK

Populations of neurons encode sensory stimuli along the time dimension (temporal variations), the space dimension (different neuron identities), or along combinations of both dimensions (Buonomano et al., 2009; Harvey et al., 2012; Panzeri et al., 2010; Panzeri et al., 2015; Runyan et al., 2017). Consequently, understanding the neural code requires characterizing the firing patterns along these dimensions and linking them to the stimuli (Abeles et al., 1988; Haefner et al., 2013; Kristan Jr et al., 1997; Panzeri et al., 2015; Pouget et al., 2000).

Various methods were proposed for compactly representing neural activity along its most relevant dimensions. In previous work (Onken et al., 2016), we showed that space-by-time non-negative tensor decompositions performed competitively compared to other techniques both in terms of data robustness and ability to find informative patterns of salamander retinal coding. This decomposition method generalized nonnegative matrix factorization (NMF)(Delis et al., 2016; Devarajan, 2008; Lee et al., 1999; Smaragdis et al., 2014) by imposing non-negativity constraints on the extracted components, temporal and spatial modules and activation coefficients, leading to a parts-based, low dimensional, though flexible representation of the non-negative data.

Although these tensor factorizations performed well on salamander retinal ganglion cells, which have almost non-existent stimulus-unrelated baseline activity, it is not clear how well the methods would perform on data with considerable spontaneous activity, which might require to explicitly correct for the pre-stimulus baseline.

In this study, we evaluated decoding performance of space-by-time decompositions using both simulated data and real auditory cortical data. Further, to tackle the potential problems generated when analysing data with high baseline activity, we derived and introduced a new variant of space-by-time tensor decompositions, termed baseline-corrected space-by-time tensor factorization, that discounts the baseline activity by subtracting the pre-stimulus baseline from each trial, and then decomposes the baseline-corrected activity using a tri-factorization that finds non-negative spatial and temporal modules, and signed activation coefficients. To validate the methods, we simulated patterns of responses composed of groundtruth modules with high and low SNR and then we tried to retrieve the modules from both tensor decompositions. We found that only baseline-corrected space-by-time tensor decompositions recovered the ground-truth modules in both high and low SNR cases while space-by-time non-negative tensor decompositions managed to recover the modules just in high SNR cases.

We also validated the two factorization methods by decoding stimuli using the single-trial activation coefficients obtained with each considered method. We used a linear discriminant analysis decoder on a training set (half of the trials) and then used the classifier to decode the stimuli presented on a test set (remaining half of trials) of activation coefficients. We chose for all methods the number of modules that maximized decoding performance. In simulated data, we found that, while both methods performed very well, the baseline-corrected factorizations performed better than the non-negative decompositions with higher values of baseline activity, and that the methods performed similarly with lower background activity. On an auditory cortical dataset, we computed decoding performance when varying the number of trials per stimulus in the training set. Baseline-corrected tensor decompositions performed better than the non-negative ones for lower number of training trials, while the baseline-corrected decompositions gave similar decoding performances, but with most compact representations with respect to non-negative decompositions for higher number of training trials.

Our results suggest that tensor factorizations, in particular the baseline-corrected one, work robustly and efficiently when decoding neural population responses with high baseline activity.

- Abeles, M., & Gerstein, G. L. (1988). Detecting spatiotemporal firing patterns among simultaneously recorded single neurons. Journal of Neurophysiology, 60(3), 909-924.
- [2] Buonomano, D. V., & Maass, W. (2009). State-dependent computations: spatiotemporal processing in cortical networks. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 10(2), 113.
- [3] Delis, I., Onken, A., Schyns, P. G., Panzeri, S., & Philiastides, M. G. (2016). Space-by-time decomposition for single-trial decoding of M/EEG activity. Neuroimage, 133, 504-515.
- [4] Devarajan, K. (2008). Nonnegative matrix factorization: an analytical and interpretive tool in computational biology. PLoS Computational Biology, 4(7), e1000029.
- [5] Haefner, R. M., Gerwinn, S., Macke, J. H., & Bethge, M. (2013). Inferring decoding strategies from choice probabilities in the presence of correlated variability. Nature Neuroscience, 16(2), 235.

- [6] Harvey, C. D., Coen, P., & Tank, D. W. (2012). Choice-specific sequences in parietal cortex during a virtual-navigation decision task. Nature, 484(7392), 62.
- [7] Kristan Jr, W. B., & Shaw, B. K. (1997). Population coding and behavioral choice. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 7(6), 826-831.
- [8] Lee, T.-W., Girolami, M., & Sejnowski, T. J. (1999). Independent component analysis using an extended infomax algorithm for mixed subgaussian and supergaussian sources. Neural Computation, 11(2), 417-441.
- [9] Onken, A., Liu, J. K., Karunasekara, P. C. R., Delis, I., Gollisch, T., & Panzeri, S. (2016). Using matrix and tensor factorizations for the single-trial analysis of population spike trains. PLoS Computational Biology, 12(11), e1005189.
- [10] Panzeri, S., Brunel, N., Logothetis, N. K., & Kayser, C. (2010). Sensory neural codes using multiplexed temporal scales. Trends in Neurosciences, 33(3), 111-120.
- [11] Panzeri, S., Macke, J. H., Gross, J., & Kayser, C. (2015). Neural population coding: combining insights from microscopic and mass signals. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 19(3), 162-172.
- [12] Pouget, A., Dayan, P., & Zemel, R. (2000). Information processing with population codes. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 1(2), 125.
- [13] Runyan, C. A., Piasini, E., Panzeri, S., & Harvey, C. D. (2017). Distinct timescales of population coding across cortex. Nature, 548(7665), 92.
- [14] Smaragdis, P., Fevotte, C., Mysore, G. J., Mohammadiha, N., & Hoffman, M. (2014). Static and dynamic source separation using nonnegative factorizations: A unified view. IEEE Signal Processing Magazine, 31(3), 66-75.

Functional interactions among neural assemblies based on frequency-domain analysis

Yoshiyuki Asai¹, Takeshi Abe¹, Takahide Hayano¹, Manon Jaquerod², Alessandra Lintas² and Alessandro E.P. Villa²

¹Department of Systems Bioinformatics, Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine, 1-1-1 Minami-Kogushi, Ube, Yamaguchi, 755-8505, Japan; ²NeuroHeuristic Research Group, University of Lausanne, Internef, Quartier UNIL-Chamberonne, CH-1015 Lausanne, Switzerland

To inferring information processing mechanism in a brain, time-domain analyses and frequency-domain analyses are usually applied to time series data recorded from a brain or neuron activities. In this work, we focus on frequency-domain time series analyses to deduce the network topology in terms of information processing.

Frequency-domain analysis, such as coherence and partial coherence analyses, are applied to time series data such as spike train data and EEG and fMRI data to infer the functional relationships between neurons, and regions of interest (ROI), respectively. Especially partial coherence analysis allows us to analyze coherence of two time series data eliminating the effect of another time series data recorded simultaneously to the pair of the time series data [1]. Hence it can cancel a pseudo coherence caused by, for example, a common input. Next, the direction of functional interaction is an important target to analyze to understand the information processing mechanism in the brain. Granger-causality is applied to analyze a linear causality between two time series [2]. As the number of time series data increases, the combinations of time series data to analyze the functional interaction increase more.

Here we applied those frequency-domain analyses to simulated multivariate spike trains generated by a synfire chain model as a simple possible model of the thalamocortical circuit. The input time series are generated by nonlinear dynamical systems. In another set of data we analyze time series derived from real experiments with recordings obtained from functional brain imaging based on near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) in young participants. Data from virtual ROIs are used to analyze the functional interaction during various stages of sleep. We use machine learning methods at a preprocessing stage with the aim to categorize the recordings into sets of data in an unsupervised way. Then, the analysis of the functional connectivity between the sets of data will be used to infer the strength and the direction of the connections between the sets of data, which are supposed to represent a same brain state and/or brain region.

The analyses on simulated time series data are performed with reference to the known network structure in the model, which can be a basis of interpretation of the analytical results obtained from experimental data.

Bibliography

 D. R. Brillinger, H. L. Bryant, Jr, and J. P. Segundo. Identification of synaptic interactions. *Biol Cybern*, 22(4):213–28, May 1976. [2] M. Ding, Y. Chen, and S. L. Bressler. Granger Causality: Basic Theory and Application to Neuroscience. In *Handbook of Time Series Analysis*, chapter 17, pages 437–460. Wiley-Blackwell, 2006.

Active electrosensing for spatial map encoding in a fish

Simone Azeglio¹, James J. Jun², André Longtin^{3,4,5} and Leonard Maler^{4,5}

¹Dipartimentodi Fisica, Università degli Studi di Torino, Torino, Piemonte, Italia; ²Center for Computational Biology, Flatiron Institute, New York, NY, USA; ³Department of Physics, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada; ⁴Departmentof Cellular and Molecular Medicine, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada; ⁵Centre for Neural Dynamics, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada

Exploration and active sensing are necessary for the acquisition of spatial information, they provide a direct measure of the type of information that is encoded. Such information includes both the intrinsic properties of the environmental items and their spatial relationships: ending up in a neural representation of the environment, often referred to as a spatial map. For this reason, we are interested in studying spatial learning in a pulse-type weakly electric fish (WEF) that uses active electrosensing to identify and localize landmarks and their spatial relation to food. Pulse-type WEF electrosense their near environment by generating electric organ discharge (EOD) pulses at variable rates and sensing spatially localized object-induced distortions of the EOD-generated electric field with a cutaneous arrays of electroreceptors. By observing active electrosensing we can infer changes in the animal's foci of attention during learning. We hypothesize that active sensing is a behavioral manifestation of attention and essential for spatial learning; the fish use spatial memory of landmarks and path integration to reach the expected food location and confine their attention to this region.

Fast Instructed Stimulus-Response Learning

Guido Bugmann¹, Serge Thill¹ and Jeremy Goslin²

¹School of Computing, Electronics and Mathematics, University of Plymouth, PL4 8AA, Plymouth, United Kingdom; ²School of Psychology, University of Plymouth, PL4 8AA, Plymouth, United Kingdom

Humans are able to quickly learn new stimulus-response (S-R) rules, for instance from single verbal instructions: In situation X do action Y. We have attempted to measure how fast the learning process actually is in an experiment where a series of randomly generated S-R rules were presented visually for 200ms, e.g. "A>" means "the next time you see an A, press the key to the right". A test stimulus, e.g. "A", was then presented after a delay between 50ms and 1300ms, until the response is produced. The expectation was that if the test stimulus is presented before rule learning is completed, there should be some impairment in generating the response. To stop subjects from just producing the prepared response, we used 33% of catch trials where a different letter was presented, e.g. "B" and for which the response is a space-bar press. To test whether subjects used a serial strategy of encoding the rule first and only afterwards started processing the test stimulus, we also used 50% of masked trials, where the test stimulus was shown for only 100ms followed by a mask. The idea was that masked test stimuli may not be processed if presented during the learning process.



Figure 8: Response times measured from the start of the test stimulus, with standard error bars. Averages over 10 subjects.

We found longer response times (RT) for delays up to 700ms for all conditions. The errors were low for normal SR trials (<2%) and higher for catch trials, especially in the masked case for short delays (9%). Masking mainly increased the number of misclassification errors for short delays.

What do these results tell us about the speed of S-R learning? From the examination of neurophysiological data in other experiments [e.g. Wallis and Miller 2003; Muhammad R. et al., 2006; Cisek and Kalaska, 2010, Rozzi and Fogassi, 2017], it appears that the task could be achieved without any fast synaptic learning, using fixed links between a repertoire of pre-existing sensory data processing functions in prefrontal cortex (PFC) and a repertoire of motor functions in premotor cortex (PM). Synaptic learning would only be needed prior to the start of the experiment, when subjects are explained the task, and consists of setting up appropriate connections between PFC and PM.

There are several possible ways to wire a network for the task, but the scheme most consistent with the data is that the response R is primed when the rule is presented and awaits a "match" signal as trigger, while the "space-bar" response is only activated when a "non-match" case is detected [e.g. Duque J, 2012, 2014; Katnaniand H.A., 2013; Cisek, 2005]. This can explain the large RT cost (around 160ms) and error types in catch trials.

The next question is whether the dynamics of such a network can explain our reaction time data. This includes the fact that there is a RT cost for small delays also in catch trials, despite a longer overall RT. Such an increase in RT for small delays can have several origins, e.g. the dynamics of encoding the S identity in PFC states, the dynamics of inhibition / dis-inhibition at the start of the trial, and possibly others.

PFC is currently seen as dynamical system converging to task-dependent states, but its speed of convergence has not been documented yet. Indirect evidence suggests that it can take up to 1000ms [Cromer J.A. et al., 2012]. So, small delays could probe the PFC system during the convergence process when, e.g., match / no-match signals may be weaker or take longer to generate. This early, partially functional, state of the PFC could also explain the errors caused by masking for short delays.

The motor system comprise a number of brain areas (PFC, PM, M1, SMA, preSMA, basal ganglia, etc) providing inhibition and dis-inhibitions in various phases of action preparation and initiation, but there is still no agreement on its operation [e.g. Lebon F. et al., 2018]. In our choice RT task, it is likely that the system is inhibited until the "match" signal [Criaud M. et al., 2012], consistent with a RT around 400ms for long delays, but it is unclear whether some extra inhibition is activated by the rule presentation and then decays within the 700ms observed here.

Future simulation work will establish whether the proposed fixed-connections network and presumed dynamics of its elements can explain our data.

A stochastic model for block-layered neuronal networks

Giacomo Ascione¹, Maria Francesca Carfora² and Enrica Pirozzi¹

¹Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni - Università degi Studi di Napoli Federico II; ²Istituto per le Applicazioni del Calcolo "Mauro Picone" - Consiglio Nazionale delle Bicerche

Front-line interacting neuronal populations, which are subjected to external stimulations and noise, transmit through networks of synaptic linkages the sensory input to a smaller ensemble of secondary-line neurons. The received information is encoded according to combinatorial schemes of the activated neurons. The overall firing activity is then modulated by the selective inhibition action of the neurons responsible for such function. A typical example is the information transmission in the olfactory system, where the sensory (front-line) neurons fire in specific way as a consequence of different odorants binding; their response is conveyed and then modulated by the olfactory bulb neurons, that are organized in reticular structures called *glomeruli*, before reaching the *mytral cells* (see, for details, [1, 2, 3]). The geometry of the network of neurons and of their synapses, together with the timing and the rate of the firing activity, are the basis of the encoding and the transmission of the information([4, 5, 6]).

Along the lines of [6] and [7], our aim is to construct a stochastic model for interacting neurons organized in a block-layered network devoted to the information processing in this kind of sensory systems. The model of a layered and modular network describes the dynamic behavior of each prototypical neuron in such systems, taking into account both its role (excitatory/inhibitory) and its location within the network. Specifically, we study the impact of selective inhibition on the information coding, also considering the relative proportion of inhibitory neurons on the neuronal population ([8, 9]).

We rely on specific results on the First Passage Time for Markov processes to obtain suitable approximations for this dynamics via the Volterra integral equation approach ([10]). Numerical approximations will be compared to the ones obtained by the simulation of stochastic differential equations describing the different kinds of neurons and their connections within the network.

- [1] Linster C. (2014) Olfaction: Overview. In: Jaeger D., Jung R. (eds) Encyclopedia of Computational Neuroscience. Springer, New York, NY
- [2] Li G. (2013) Biophysical Models of Olfactory Mitral and Granule Cells. In: Jaeger D., Jung R. (eds) Encyclopedia of Computational Neuroscience. Springer, New York, NY
- [3] Migliore M., McTavish T. (2013) Olfactory Computation in Mitral-Granule Cell Circuits. In: Jaeger D., Jung R. (eds) Encyclopedia of Computational Neuroscience. Springer, New York, NY

- [4] Shinomoto S, (2015) Estimation of Neuronal Firing Rate. Encyclopedia of Computational Neuroscience, 1148-1152
- [5] Kostal L, Shinomoto S, (2016) Efficient information transfer by Poisson neurons. Mathematical Biosciences and Engineering 13 (3), 509-520
- [6] M. F. Carfora and E. Pirozzi. Linked Gauss-Diffusion processes for modeling a finite-size neuronal network. *Biosystems*, 161:15–23, 2017, ISSN 0002-3043.
- [7] Buonocore A, Caputo L, Carfora M F, Pirozzi E, (2014) Gauss-Diffusion Processes For Modeling The Dynamics Of A Couple Of Interacting Neurons, in Mathematical Biosciences and Engineering (MBE) vol. 11, no. 2, pp.189-201.
- [8] Vidybida A, Shchur O, (2018) Relation between Firing Statistics of Spiking Neuron with Delayed Fast Inhibitory Feedback and Without Feedback. Fluctuation and Noise Letters. Volume 17, Issue 1, Article number 1850005
- [9] Buonocore A, Caputo L, Carfora M F, Pirozzi E, (2016) A leaky integrate-andfire model with adaptation for the generation of a spike train. Mathematical Biosciences and Engineering, Volume 13, Number 3, pp. 483–493.
- [10] Buonocore A, Caputo L, D'Onofrio G, Pirozzi (2015), Closed-Form Solutions for the First-Passage-Time Problem and Neuronal Modeling, Ricerche di Matematica, 64(2), 421–439.
Inferring the degree of causal interactions within physical systems from their surface dynamics

Anna Cattani¹, Larissa Albantakis², Leonardo Barbosa², William Marshall², Giulio Tononi² and Marcello Massimini¹

¹Department of Biomedical and Clinical Sciences "L.Sacco", Universitá degli Studi di Milano, Italy; ²Department of Psychiatry, Center for Sleep and Consciousness, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI, USA

Consciousness has been linked to the functional differentiation and integration of cortical areas [1]. Understanding the nature of interactions within and across cortical areas is thus fundamental for the comprehension of consciousness and its physical substrate. For practical purposes, current empirical approaches aimed at unraveling the causal interactions between cortical areas in order to estimate a subject's level of consciousness [2] are limited to analyses of the brain's surface dynamics, i.e., neural activation patterns at rather coarse scales. However, a formal relationship between the intrinsic causal properties of a physical system and the surface dynamics (both evoked and spontaneous) it exhibits under typical conditions has not been clarified yet. Our aim is to test whether estimating the amount of structure, namely the richness, within the surface dynamics can indeed be used as a proxy for identifying structure in the underlying causal interactions.

We focus on 2D lattices of majority gates with local (grid network) and non-local (random network) interactions, as examles for simple neural networks with different amounts of structure in their causal interactions. The grid network exhibits higher degrees of shared input and output among elements, which leads to intuitively more complex dynamics with visible structure ("patches") in the relevant regime. To quantify the richness of the surface dynamics objectively, we implement two different techniques. On the one hand, we measure the deviation from statistical independence among the subsets of the system, assessed using the concepts of statistical entropy and mutual information [3]. On the other hand, we take advantage of the Minimum Description Length principle (MDL) [4], which balances a good fitting of the network's state at each time step with a simple description of it. More precisely, we use MDL implemented in the NASSAU algorithm [5] to tackle the optimal model order selection problem in the boolean matrix factorization. The algorithm provides the minimum description length of the surface dynamics as the sum of the description length of the identified regularities (also called *effective complexity* [6]), namely the description length of the product of the factors, and of the other features treated as incidental.

The results obtained with both techniques clearly show a higher amount of structure in the grid's surface dynamics compared to the random one. These preliminary results represent a step toward the proof that the study of the surface dynamics under typical conditions for inferring the nature of the causal interactions is well-founded. Establishing a formal connection between causal structure and surface dynamics would strengthen the link between theoretical predictions about the physical substrate of consciousness [1] and associated practical measures [2].

- [1] G. Tononi et al. Integrated information theory: from consciousness to its physical substrate. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 17(7):450–461, 2016.
- [2] A. Casali et al. A theoretically based index of consciousness independent of sensory processing and behavior. *Science Translational Medicine*, 5(198):1–10, 2013.
- [3] J. Kitazono, R. Kanai and M. Oizumi. Efficient algorithms for searching the minimum information partition in integrated information theory. *Entropy*, 20(3), 2018.
- [4] R. Rissanen. Modeling by shortest data description. Automatica, 14(1):465–471, 1975.
- [5] S. Karaev, P. Miettinen and J. Vreeken. Getting to know the unknown unknowns: destructive-noise resistant boolean matrix factorization. In proceedings of 2015 SIAM International Conference on Data Mining
- [6] M. Gell-Mann and S. Lloyd. Effective complexity. Nonextensive Entropy ? Interdiscip. Appl, 36(3):509–511, 2003.

Cross-sound modeling of midbrain auditory responses to two different environmental sounds

Tsai-Rong Chang¹, Daniel Suta² and **Tzai-Wen Chiu**³

¹Department of Computer Science and Information Engineering, Southern Taiwan University of Science and Technology, Tainan, Taiwan, ROC; ²Department of Auditory Neuroscience, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic; ³Department of Biological Science and Technology, National Chiao-Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan, ROC

In modeling single unit responses to different types of environmental sounds (e.g., drinking or eating sounds as commonly detected at the rearing cage of laboratory rats), results are rather satisfactory provided the same type of sounds is used in both training and testing. The performance level is high (> 85%) particularly when the spectro-temporal area of strong acoustic energy is (e.g., top 30% strong energy components) fed to the model input, a finding that is consistent with the presence of broad-band amplitude transients in the environmental sounds. To predict 'cross-sound' responses (i.e., to predict the response to one type of sound after the model is trained with responses to another type of sound), model performance is typically poor (< 25%), which is similar to what has been reported in the literature.

In our previous artificial neural network modeling of single unit responses to time-varying tonal stimuli (i.e., random frequency modulated tone), we found that it is critical to set in the model, a proper delay as well as a proper time window for the computation. We therefore hypothesized that the improper setting of delay and time window may lead to the poor performance for cross-sound modeling. We speculated that these delay and time window might both vary across sound types (or even across different acoustic bursts or bouts of the same sound).

We here report a novel approach to improve on cross-sound modeling. The method consisted of two parts: (a) on single sound-bout basis, we first analyzed single unit responses to each sound type (i.e., drinking or eating sounds that each consisted of multiple sound bouts) by constructing a model performance map (a 2D function of the model delay and time-window length). We then computed a 3D similarity index to compare sound-bouts based on their 3D pattern in the model performance map, and put those sound-bouts sharing similar features in one group. Within this new group that contained bouts from two different sound types, the neural model was first trained with sound bouts of one type and then tested with another type. (b) In testing responses of sound-bouts from the two sound types, we further determined their optimal threshold level at which only the stronger energy components of the sounds were fed to the model input. Results on population averages (n = 32 single units) showed significantly elevated model performance (up to > 86%), and also improved performance of modeling within sound type to > 92%. Results on individual single units also showed improvement in model performance. although not as remarkable as the population averages. The same approach was however less effective when applied to groupings of individual sound bouts in terms of their similarity in sound waveform or in their response time profile. Results further supported the sensitivity of the model delay and time window in grouping sound-bouts. We concluded that it is possible to perform cross-sound modeling for environmental sounds with rather satisfactory results, using our artificial neural

network. But two issues are important: (a) grouping of sound-bouts with similar properties, and (b) extracting high-energy components at a supra-threshold level that is sound-type dependent.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by grants from the Ministry of Science and Technology (103-2221-E-039 -007 -MY3 and MOST 106-2221-E-218-035), Taiwan-Czech bilateral project (MOST-GACR: 105-2923-B-009-001-MY3) and "Center For Intelligent Drug Systems and Smart Bio-devices (IDS2B)" from The Featured Areas Research Center Program within the framework of the Higher Education Sprout Project by the Ministry of Education (MOE) in Taiwan.

Recurrent network model for studying network dynamics in calcium imaging population recordings

Maria Constantinou, Diego Fasoli and Stefano Panzeri

Neural Computation Laboratory, Center for Neuroscience and Cognitive Systems @UniTn, Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia, 38068 Rovereto, Italy

Simultaneous recordings from populations of tens to hundreds of cortical neurons have recently become possible due to technological advances in two-photon calcium imaging (Harvey et al 2012, Morcos & Harvey 2016, Runyan et al 2017). These population recordings allow the study of interactions between neurons within a network and how these interactions contribute to task performance.

It has been long known that correlations in neural activity profoundly affect how neural populations encode information (for a recent review see Kohn et al 2016). Furthermore, a recent study has shown that the strength of correlations among neurons varies between cortical areas and affects the timescales of population dynamics (Runyan et al, 2017). However, the origin of such observed correlations in neural activity remains unclear. Neural correlations could reflect a combination of factors such as anatomical recurrent connectivity, common inputs from other areas and shared covariations in excitability. Fitting a neural network model, which takes into account several of these factors, to simultaneously recorded neural activity could be a powerful way to both understand the origin of neural correlations and to better evaluate their impact on network dynamics.

Our aim is to develop recurrent neural network models that can be used to explain the patterns of correlations between the activity of different neurons simultaneously recorded within an experimental session. Recent attempts of using neural network models to fit calcium imaging data have used learning rules that do not take into account trial-to-trial correlations in neural activity, as they described only the dynamics of trial-averaged neural activity (Rajan et al 2016). To address this issue, we are developing a gradient descent learning rule for firing rate recurrent network models that can learn to infer both trial-averaged neural dynamics and trial-to-trial covariations of the recorded neural population activity. This learning rule is based on the algorithm developed by Movelland & McClelland (1993), in which neural networks are trained to reproduce multivariate continuous probability distributions. Although the techniques introduced by Movellan & McClelland (1993) were developed only for neural networks with symmetric connections, our technique is based on a moment expansion approximation, and for this reason it can be applied to recurrent networks with any topology of the synaptic connections.

We are currently validating the learning rule by training recurrent neural network models with simulated target functions, in which the ground-truth about the anatomical connectivity is known, to check its accuracy with finite data samples. We will then apply the learning rule to optimise these recurrent network models to fit two-photon calcium imaging data recorded from behaving mice, such as those reported in Morcos & Harvey (2016) and Runyan et al (2017), in order to investigate the possible relationships between functional coupling and network parameters across areas and tasks. In addition, we will extend recently developed tools to study analytically the dynamics and bifurcation structure of the recurrent firing rate networks (Fasoli et al 2016, 2018, Fasoli & Panzeri, 2018). This approach will allow us to understand the network dynamics underlying the sequential population dynamics often observed in association cortices during cognitive tasks.

- Fasoli D., Cattani A., Panzeri S. (2016) The complexity of dynamics in small neural circuits. PLoS Comput. Biol. 12:e1004992.
- [2] Fasoli D., Cattani A., Panzeri S. (2018) Transitions between asynchronous and synchronous states: A theory of correlations in small neural circuits, J. Comput. Neurosci. 44:25-43.
- [3] Fasoli D., Panzeri S. (2018) Optimized brute-force algorithms for the bifurcation analysis of a spin-glass-like neural network model. Submitted. Preprint available at arXiv:1705.05647 [q-bio.NC].
- [4] Harvey C.D., Coen P., Tank D.W. (2012) Choice-specific sequences in parietal cortex during a virtual-navigation decision task. Nature 484:62-68.
- [5] Kohn A., Coen-Cagli R., Kanitscheider I., Pouget A. (2016) Correlations and neuronal population information. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 39:237-256.
- [6] Morcos A.S., Harvey C.D. (2016) History-dependent variability in population dynamics during evidence accumulation in cortex. Nat. Neurosci. 19:1672-1681.
- [7] Movellan J.R., McClelland J.L. (1993) Learning continuous probability distributions with symmetric diffusion networks. Cogn. Sci. 17:463-496.
- [8] Rajan K., Harvey C.D., Tank D.W. (2016) Recurrent network models of sequence generation and memory. Neuron 90:128-142.
- [9] Runyan C.A., Piasini E., Panzeri S., Harvey C.D. (2017) Distinct timescales of population coding across cortex. Nature 548:92-96.

On a stochastic model for fluctuating systems under state-dependent dichotomous noise

Antonio Di Crescenzo and Fabio Travaglino Università degli Studi di Salerno, Dipartimento di Matematica

Formal models in Neuroscience and Physics are often based on stochastic processes subject to fluctuating behavior due to dichotomous noise (see, for instance, Bena [1], Li *et al.* [7], Müller-Hansen *et al.* [8]). A landmark among such random processes is the (integrated) telegraph process (see Kolesnik and Ratanov [5], and references therein). Recent advances on its state-dependent generalizations have been provided by Garra and Orsingher [4]. Nevertheless, state-dependent stochastic processes deserve interest in neuronal modeling, as for diffusion neuronal models with multiplicative noise (D'Onofrio *et al.* [2]) and for processes with exponential decay subject to excitatory inputs with state-dependent effects (Di Crescenzo and Martinucci [3]).

Stimulated by the above investigations, we propose a stochastic process for the description of fluctuating behavior with variable trend, where the fluctuations follow a state-dependent alternation similar to the telegraph process. For the proposed model we aim to investigate the optimum signal determination with respect to the noise characteristics, by adopting suitable criteria as those exploited by Lansky *et al.* [6].

- I. Bena. Dichotomous Markov noise: exact results for out-of-equilibrium systems. Internat. J. Modern Phys. B, 20:2825–2888, 2006.
- [2] G. D'Onofrio, P. Lansky and E. Pirozzi. On two diffusion neuronal models with multiplicative noise: The mean first-passage time properties. *Chaos*, 28(4):043103, 2018.
- [3] A. Di Crescenzo and B. Martinucci. Analysis of a stochastic neuronal model with excitatory inputs and state-dependent effects. *Math. Biosci.*, 209(2):547–563, 2007.
- [4] R. Garra and E. Orsingher. Random motions with space-varying velocities. In: Panov V. (eds) Modern Problems of Stochastic Analysis and Statistics. MPSAS 2016. Springer Proc. Math. Stat., 208:25–39, Springer, Cham, 2017.
- [5] A.D. Kolesnik and N. Ratanov. *Telegraph processes and option pricing*. Springer Briefs in Statistics. Springer, Heidelberg, 2013. ISBN: 978-3-642-40525-9.
- [6] P. Lansky, L. Sacerdote and C. Zucca. Optimum signal in a diffusion leaky integrate-and-fire neuronal model *Math. Biosci.*, 207(2):261–274, 2007.
- [7] P. Li, L.R. Nie, C.Z. Shu, S. Hu and Q. Shao. Effect of correlated dichotomous noises on stochastic resonance in a linear system. J. Stat. Phys., 146:1184–1202, 2012.

[8] F. Müller-Hansen, F. Droste and B. Lindner. Statistics of a neuron model driven by asymmetric colored noise. *Phys. Rev. E*, 91(2):022718, 2015.

A stochastically drifted model for a neuron embedded in a network: simulations and statistical analysis

Giuseppe D'Onofrio¹, Lubomir Kostal¹ and Enrica Pirozzi²

¹Institute of Physiology of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Videnska 1083, 14220 Prague 4, Czech Republic; ²Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni, Università di Napoli Federico II, Via Cintia, Complesso Monte S. Angelo, 80126, Napoli, Italy

During sensory stimulations, populations of neurons work intensively to transmit the information inputs through the synapses' network to neurons of other populations. The membrane potential of each neuron, involved in this complex dynamics, undergoes variations induced by the flow of inputs (excitatory or inhibitory) coming from the neuronal network in which it is embedded. Stochastic models for this neuronal dynamics rely on diffusion processes suitable to mimic the behavior of the membrane potential of the neurons. In particular, the timing of the emission of the spike, that gives rise to the firing activity, is modeled as the first passage time (FPT) of these processes through a boundary, i.e. the firing threshold.

Our intent is to model the neuronal activity of a neuron embedded in a network and subject to the firing activity originated from surrounding neurons. Specifically, we construct a model based on a stochastic differential equation (SDE) with the drift term of stochastic nature and representative of the inputs deriving from the dynamics of the surrounding neurons. For the case of M populations of interacting neurons, we use a stochastic counting process to sum inputs (random variables) originated from each component of each population; the resultant stochastic process drives the mean of the process solution of the model SDE. Under specified hypothesis the distribution law of the stochastic drift can be considered assigned (e.g. that of a compound Poisson process). The FPT problem for these processes stochastically drifted reveals hard to be addressed. Some useful results about FPT probability density function (pdf) of approximating diffusion processes will be suitably exploited ([1],[2]). Extensive simulations of the dynamics described by this kind of SDEs will be performed; furthermore, we analyze the amount of information that can be reliably exchanged through the network, studying mutual information and channel capacity (see for instance [3], [4]). Particular attention will be given to the changes of these quantities with respect to the proportion of inhibitory and excitatory neurons constituting the network.

Acknowledgements

This work was partially supported by the Institute of Physiology RVO:67985823, by the Czech Science Foundation project 17-06943S and by Gruppo Nazionale per il Calcolo Scientifico (GNCS-INdAM).

Bibliography

 M. F. Carfora and E. Pirozzi. Linked Gauss-Diffusion processes for modeling a finitesize neuronal network. *Biosystems*, 161:15–23, 2017, ISSN 0002-3043.

- [2] A. Buonocore, L. Caputo, G. D'Onofrio and E. Pirozzi. Closed-form solutions for the first-passage-time problem and neuronal modeling. *Ricerche di Matematica*, 64(2), 421–439, 2015. ISSN 0035-5038.
- [3] L. Kostal, P. Lansky, and M. D. McDonnell. Metabolic cost of neuronal information in an empirical stimulus-response model. *Biological Cybernetics*, 107(3), 355–365, 2013. ISSN 1432-0770.
- [4] L. Kostal and G. D'Onofrio. Coordinate invariance as a fundamental constraint on the form of stimulus-specific information measures. *Biological Cybernetics*, 112(1), 13–23, 2018. ISSN 0340-1200.

A model of presynaptic KV7 channel function in hippocampal mossy fiber boutons

Elisabetta Giacalone¹, Katiuscia Martinello², David A. Brown³, Mala M. Shah² and Michele Migliore¹

¹Institute of Biophysics, National Research Council, via U La Malfa, 153, 90146 Palermo, Italy; ²UCL School of Pharmacy, University College London, WC1N 1AX; ³Neuroscience Physiology and Pharmacology, University College London, Gower Street, London WC1E 6BT, United Kingdom

In hippocampus, a type of slowly-activated and non-inactivating K+ channels, belonging to the Kv7 family, are highly localized on initial segments of myelinated and unmyelinated axons where they influence neurons' excitability. Interestingly, immunohistochemistry shows that the KV7.2 and KV7.3 subunits are localized throughout hippocampal mossy fibers. Electrophysiological recordings from mature synaptic boutons showed that the KV7/M- current is also present in mossy fiber, is active at rest and regulates the membrane conductance. This is an important issue, since these channels may be an important determinant for modulation of excitatory neurotransmitter release, and thus signal transmission, at DG-CA3 synapses. In this poster we will show the possible functional consequences of blocking Kv7 channels, by using a biophysical computational model of mossy fiber bouton (MFB). The model is able to reproduce a number of experimental findings under control and after Kv7 block by XE991. Surprisingly, the model predicts that Kv7 channel expression and activation in MFB may directly influence other channels' kinetic, which may result in a significant modulation of the action potential waveform and in potentially important consequences on synaptic transmission and signal coding.

Detecting dependences between neurons in the electric fish

C. Giordana¹, A. Caputi², A. Rodriguez-Cattáneo², L. Sacerdote¹ and M. Tamborrino³

¹Dept. de Neurociencias Integrativas y Computacionales, Ins. de Investigaciones Biológicas C. Estable, Montevideo, Uruguay; ²Dept. of Mathematics "G. Peano", University of Torino, Italy; ³Institute of Stochastics, Johannes Kepler University Linz, Austria

The response of two neurons to a stimulus is influenced by both their interactions and their own past activity. Since recorded spike trains exhibit patterns due to both phenomena, it is a challenge to distinguish to which of them every specific behavior should be ascribed. Here, we consider spike trains that were simultaneously recorded from two neurons of the electro-sensory lobe in the weakly pulsing electric fish *Gymnotus omarorum*. These cells respond to a specific pulsed electric stimulus, emitted by the fish's own electric organ discharge (EOD) with a nearly constant frequency. Note that, without this regular signal, the neurons are silent. To discriminate between marginal and joint behaviors, we introduce two shuffling procedures. We analyze the results with auto-correlograms and cross-correlograms as well as through the use of copulas. Besides providing information on the nature of the observed dependencies, the provided method identifies also the direction of mutual influences. In particular, we recognize the presence of both a *within* and a between dependence of the spike trains. Both neurons preserve memory traces of the recent past, in terms of their propensity to spike with high frequency. Moreover a mono-directional inhibitory mechanism is observed as a consequence of the direct interaction between the cells.

- R. B. Nelsen. An Introduction to Copulas, volume 44 of Springer Series in Statistics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2006. ISBN 978-0-387-28659-4.
- [2] A. C. Pereira et al. The slow pathway in the electrosensory lobe of Gymnotus omarorum: Field potentials and unitary activity. *Journal of Physiology-Paris*, 108(2–3):71–83, 2014. ISSN 0928-4257.
- [3] L. Sacerdote and M. Tamborrino and C. Zucca. Detecting dependencies between spike trains of pairs of neurons through copulas. *Brain Research*, 1434:243–256, 2012. ISSN 0006-8993.

Modeling event cascades using networks of additive count sequences

Shinsuke Koyama

The Institute of Statistical Mathematics, Tokyo, Japan

We propose a statistical model for networks of event count sequences built on a cascade structure. We assume that each event triggers successor events, whose counts follow additive probability distributions; the ensemble of counts is given by their superposition. These assumptions allow the marginal distribution of the count sequences and the conditional distribution of the event cascades to have analytic forms. Based on this, we develop a statistical method for estimating the model parameters and the event cascades from the observed count sequences. We demonstrate our method on synthetic and real event sequential data.

Statistical Definition of Bursting in Neural Spike Trains by Means of Novelty and Surprise Measure

Emanuele Lucrezia¹, Guenther Palm^{1,2}, Junji Ito¹ and Sonja Gruen^{1,3}

¹Institute of Neuroscience and Medicine (INM-6), Institute for Advanced Simulation (IAS-6), JARA Brain Institute I (INM-10), Jülich Research Centre, Jülich, Germany; ²Insitute for Neural Information Processing, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany; ³Theoretical Systems Neurobiology, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany

We present a method for calculating the statistical significance of bursts in a spike train relative to a 0-hypothesis of independent Poisson processes. Mathematically, the method is based on the calculation of novelty and surprise for bursts as defined by Palm (2012) [1,2], where a 'burst' signifies the event that a large number of spikes have occurred in a short interval of time.

Let $(X_k)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}}$ be a sequence of positive random variables (inter-spike-intervals) and $X_{i,k} = \sum_{j=0}^{i-1} X_{k-j}$ for $1 \leq i$. Obviously the distribution of $X_{i,k}$ is the same for each k and $X_{1,k} = X_k$. Let $F_i(t) = \mathbb{P}[X_{i,0} \leq t]$, we define the **burst novelty** at spike k as:

$$N_k := -\log_2[\min F_i(X_{i,k})].$$

Again the distribution of N_k is the same for each k with cumulative distribution function F, i.e. $F(x) = \mathbb{P}[N_0 \leq x]$. Now we can define the surprise function as:

$$S: \begin{cases} \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+ \\ x \to -\log_2(1 - F(x)) \end{cases}$$

The **burst surprise** at spike k is defined as the random variable $S_k := S(N_k)$. It is the logarithm of the significance probability of the burst novelty at spike k.

In order to apply those measures in practice to experimentally observed spiketrains, the task is to precompute the functions F_i and S either analytically or by sampling. To this end we assume as 0-hypothesis that the spike trains are sampled from a Poisson process. For exponentially distributed X_k the F_i are well-known, and we have computed or estimated S by sampling.

This method can be easily generalized to more general inter-spike interval distributions. In addition to the characterization of burstiness the method may also be used to determine response latency of single neurons or small groups of neurons based on single trials. It is related to some previous approaches by [3,4,5].

Acknowledgements. Supported by EU Grant 785907(HBP) and EU Grant 720270(HBP)

- Palm, G. (2012). Novelty, Information and Surprise. Springer Science & Business Media.
- [2] Palm, G. (1981). Evidence, Information, and Surprise. Biological Cybernetics, 42(1), 57-68.

- [3] Baker, S. N., & Gerstein, G. L. (2001). Determination of Response Latency and its Application to Normalization of Cross-Correlation Measures. Neural Computation, 13(6), 1351-1377.
- [4] Legendy, C. R., & Salcman, M. (1985). Bursts and Recurrences of Bursts in the Spike Trains of Spontaneously Active Striate Cortex Neurons. Journal of Neurophysiology, 53(4), 926-939.
- [5] Chen, L., Deng, Y., Luo, W., Wang, Z., & Zeng, S. (2009). Detection of Bursts in Neuronal Spike Trains by the Mean Inter-Spike Interval Method. Progress in Natural Science, 19(2), 229-235.

Channel density variability across hippocampal CA1 neurons

Rosanna Migliore, Carmen Alina Lupascu, Luca Leonardo Bologna, Michele Migliore

Institute of Biophysics, National Research Council, Palermo, Italy

Every neuron of a network exerts its function by transforming multiple spatiotemporal synaptic input patterns into a single spiking output. This intrinsic input/output function is specified by the particular passive electrical properties of the neuronal membrane, the composition and spatial distribution of ion channels, and the properties of the synaptic inputs. For a variety of physiological or pathological reasons, this function may change during a neuron's lifetime. This process results in a high variability in the observed peak conductance of ion channels across neurons. The mechanisms responsible for this variability are not well understood, although there are clear indications from experiment and modeling that degeneracy and correlation among multiple channels may be involved. Here, we studied this issue in biophysical models of hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells and interneurons. Using a unified datadriven simulation workflow and starting from a set of experimental recordings and morphological reconstructions obtained from rats, we built and analyzed several ensembles of morphologically and biophysically accurate single cell models with intrinsic electrophysiological properties consistent with experimental findings. This modeling effort has been carried out using the Brain Simulation Platform (BSP) of the Human Brain Project (https://collab.humanbrainproject.eu/#/collab/1655/nav/28538) and two open-source packages, the Electrophys Feature Extraction Library (eFEL, https://github.com/BlueBrain/eFEL) and the Blue Brain Python Optimization Library (BluePyOpt) [1]. The results suggest that the set of conductances expressed in any given hippocampal neuron may be considered as belonging to two groups: one subset is responsible for the major characteristics of the firing behavior in each population and the other more involved in degeneracy. Analysis of the model neurons suggested several experimentally testable predictions related to the combination and relative proportion of the different conductances that should be expressed on the membrane of different types of neurons for them to fulfill their role in the hippocampus circuitry.

Bibliography

 Van Geit W, Gevaert M, Chindemi G, Rössert C, Courcol J-D, Muller EB, Schürmann F, Segev I and Markram H (2016) BluePyOpt: Leveraging Open Source Software and Cloud Infrastructure to Optimise Model Parameters in Neuroscience. Front. Neuroinform. 10: 17. DOI: 10.3389/fninf.2016.00017

On stochastic neuronal models integrating correlated inputs

Enrica Pirozzi

Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni, Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II

Among stochastic neuronal models the Leaky Integrated-and-Fire (LIF) model with colored noise ([1, 2, 3]) is a refined version of the classical one driven by the white noise ([4, 5]). Indeed, the colored noise is required to include a correlated input described as a stochastic (no-delta) correlated process and integrated in the neuronal dynamics. The motivation of considering such model is that the standard LIF model cannot explain the high variability in the neuronal response to stimulations and the adaptation phenomenon ([6, 7, 8, 9]).

Although this model is based on a non-Markov process, estimates of firing densities and rates can be obtained not only by means of simulation techniques but also by exploiting some properties of Gauss-Markov processes approximating the modeling process ([3]). In order to improve these results and the characterization of such kind of models, we use some recent theoretical results about integrated Gaussian processes ([10, 11]).

In addition, with the aim to focus on neuronal models with memory, a fractional Langevin equation is also considered ([2, 12]). For this case, fractional integrals of Gaussian processes turn out to be helpful to investigate the corresponding neuronal models.

Putting together the theoretical investigations, simulations and numerical approximations for the firing densities and rates, the goal is to compare the above models highlighting the specific features also respect to the classical models.

- Sakai Y., Funahashi S., Shinomoto S., Temporally correlated inputs to leaky integrate-and-fire models can reproduce spiking statistics of cortical neurons. Neural Networks, 1181–1190, (1999)
- [2] Bazzani A, Bassi G, Turchetti G (2003) Diffusion and memory effects for stochastic processes and fractional Langevin equations. Phys A Stat Mech Appl 324(3):530-550.
- [3] Pirozzi E., Colored noise and a stochastic fractional model for correlated inputs and adaptation in neuronal firing. Biol Cybern. 2018 (1-2):25-39.
- [4] Sacerdote L., Giraudo M.T., Stochastic Integrate and Fire Models: A Review on Mathematical Methods and Their Applications. In Stochastic Biomathematical Models, Volume 2058 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, (2012) pp 99–148.
- [5] Buonocore A., Caputo L., Pirozzi E. and Ricciardi L.M., The first passage time problem for gauss-diffusion processes: Algorithmic approaches and applications to lif neuronal model. *Methodol. Comput. Appl. Probab.*, 13:29-57, (2011)

- [6] Shinomoto S., Sakai Y. and Funahashi S., The Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process does not reproduce spiking statistics of cortical neurons, Neural Computation, 11 (1997), 935–951.
- [7] Stevens, C. F., Zador, A. M., Input synchrony and the irregular firing of cortical neurons. Nature Neuroscience, 1, 210–217, (1998)
- [8] Kim H. and Shinomoto S., Estimating nonstationary inputs from a single spike train based on a neuron model with adaptation, *Math. Bios. Eng.*, 11 (2014), 49-62.
- [9] Buonocore A., Caputo L., Carfora M. F., Pirozzi E., A Leaky Integrate-And-Fire Model With Adaptation For The Generation Of A Spike Train. *Mathematical Biosciences and Engineering* Volume 13, Number 3, pp. 483-493 (2016)
- [10] Abundo M., On the first passage time of an integrated Gauss-Markov process, SCMJ, 28, 1-14, (2015)
- [11] Abundo M., Pirozzi E., Integrated stationary Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process, and double integral processes (2018), Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 494, 265-275
- [12] Teka W., Marinov T.M., and Santamaria F., Neuronal Spike Timing Adaptation Described with a Fractional Leaky Integrate-and-Fire Model, *PLoS Comput Biol.* 10(3): e1003526 (2014)

Benefits of functional data analysis of evoked potentials

Ondřej Pokora and Jan Koláček

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University, Kotlářská 2, 61137 Brno, Czech Republic

Evoked potentials reflect neural processing and are widely used to studying sensory perception. We applied a functional approach to studying single-trial auditory evoked potentials in the rat model of tinnitus, in which overdoses of salicylate are known to alter sound perception characteristically. Single-trial evoked potential integrals were assessed using the functional principal component analysis. An analogous analysis was performed on the first derivative of the response functions. We conclude that the functional principal component analysis is capable of differentiating between the controls and salicylate treatments for each type of sound. It also well separates the response function for different treatments. The results show, that scores of the first few principal components are effective cluster predictors.

- [1] J. Koláček, O. Pokora, D. Kuruczová, T.-W. Chiu. Benefits of functional PCA in the analysis of single-trial auditory evoked potentials. *Comput Stat*, 2018.
- [2] O. Pokora, J. Koláček, T.-W. Chiu, W. Qiu. Functional data analysis of singletrial auditory evoked potentials recorded in the awake rat. *Biosystems*, 161:67–75, 2017.
- [3] A. Goia, P. Vieu. An introduction to recent advances in high/infinite dimensional statistics. J Multivariate Anal, 146:1–6, 2016.
- [4] A. Cuevas. A partial overview of the theory of statistics with functional data. J Stat Plan Infer, 147:1–23, 2014.
- [5] J. O. Ramsay, B. W. Silverman. Functional data analysis. Springer, 2005.

A Pure Integrate and Fire model with Input-output Consistency

Laura Sacerdote¹, **Federico Polito**¹ and Petr Lansky² ¹University of Torino, Italy; ²Academy of Sciences of Czech Republic

In 1964, Gernstein and Mandelbrot proposed the Integrate and Fire model to account for the observed stable behavior of the Interspike Interval distribution. Their study of histograms of ISIs revealed the stable property and they suggested modeling the membrane potential through a Wiener process in order to get the inverse Gaussian as first passage time distribution, i.e. a stable distribution. Holden (1975) observed that stable distributions determine a simple transmission pathway.

Later many variants of the original model appeared with the aim to improve its realism but meanwhile researches forgot the initial clue for the model. The Leaky Integrate and Fire model that has not stable FPT distribution gives an example. The same holds for many other variants of this model. More recently Persi et al.(2004) studying synchronization patterns, proposed a time non homogeneous integrate and fire model accounting for heavy tail distributions. The existence of heavy tails, typical of stable distributions is well recognized in the literature (see for example Tsubo et al., Gal and Morom and references cited therin).

Signals from different neurons are super-imposed during the elaboration. Lindner (2006) [7] showed inconsistencies in the generally accepted hypothesis on a resulting Poissonian distribution. Unfortunately, this is the basic assumption of classical Integrate and Fire models and it determines a serious inconsistency in the models.

If we accept that the spiking times of a neuron should exhibit heavy tail distributions, then the post-synaptic signals should arrive to the observed neuron according to inter-times displying heavy tails as well. Hence, the randomized random walk describing the dynamics of the membrane potential should exhibit jumps at times coherent with the superposition of the impinging postsynaptic contributions. Furthermore, the resulting dynamics should determine inter-spikes intervals (ISIs) with heavy tails. Generally the consistency between input and output signal is generally disregarded, despite the improved robustness exhibited by a code characterized by stable ISIs.

Here we rethink to the problem, taking advantage of the mathematical progresses on regularly varying random variables. Hence, we propose to formulate the model starting from its main property, i.e. the heavy tails of the ISIs distribution. Then, we follow the Integrate and Fire paradigm. However, we model the membrane potential evolution as a randomized random walk whose jumps result from the superposition of the regularly varying inter-times of the post-synaptic signals of the other neurons participating to the network. The resulting model is actually consistent, i.e. the ISIs of the considered neuron has the same heavy tail behavior as the other neurons of the network.

Bibliography

 Gernstein G.L. and Mandelbrot B. Random walk models for the activity of a single neuron., *Biophys. J.* 4 pp. 41-68, 1964.

- [2] Holden, A.V. A Note on Convolution and Stable Distributions in the Nervous System., *Biol. Cybern.* 20 pp. 171-173, 1975.
- [3] Persi E., Horn D., Volman V., Segev R. and Ben-Jacob E. Modeling of Synchronized Bursting Events: the importance of Inhomogeneity., *Neural Computation* 16 pp. 2577-2595, 2004.
- [4] Tsubo Y., Isomura Y. and Fukai T. Power-Law Inter-Spike Interval Distributions infer a Conditional Maximization of Entropy in Cortical Neurons, PLOS Computational Biology 8,4 pp. e1002461, 2012.
- [5] Gal A. and Marom S. Entrainment of the Intrinsic Dynamics of Single Isola Neurons by Natural-Like Input,. *The Journal of Neurosciences* 33 (18) pp. 7912-7918, 2013.
- [6] Kyprianou, A. Fluctuations of Lévy Processes with Applications., Springer-Verlag, 2014.
- [7] Lindner B. Superposition of many independent spike trains is generally not a Poisson process, . *Physical review E* 73 pp. 022901, 2006.

A Thalamocortical Network Model for Pathological and Healthy Dynamical Regimes

M. Saponati^{1,2}, G. Ceccarelli¹, L. Fronzoni¹, A. Mazzoni² and E. Cataldo¹
¹Department of Physics, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy; ²The Biorobotics Institute, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Pontedera (Pisa), Italy

The thalamus is a crucial gateway for inputs to cerebral cortex. Thalamic dysfunction can affect cortical dynamics and lead to sensory impairment, cognitive disorders and epilepsy. A deep understanding of the thalamocortical transmission is then necessary to develop therapies for the aforementioned pathologies. Here we present a novel thalamocortical network where both areas are simulated with Adaptive Exponential Integrate-and-Fire (AeIF) spiking neurons. Starting from a recent paper [1] on spindle oscillations, we extend previous results by linking thalamic network to a cortical AeIF model reproducing the basic features of cortical information processing [2] and analyzing the relationship between thalamic and cortical Local Field Potential (LFP) both when the thalamus is isolated and when is receiving external inputs.

We simulate a network consisting of four neuronal populations divided into two different excitatory-inhibitory subnetworks. We consider 250 thalamocortical relay (TC) neurons and 250 reticular (RE) neurons for thalamic subnetwork, while 4000 pyramidal (PY) neurons and 1000 interneurons (INT) for cortical subnetwork. Ratio between populations are compatible with anatomical findings. We build RE-RE connections starting from a ring network and then randomly rewiring for a smallworld-like arrangement. Synaptic connections are random and sparse with different probabilities between populations. During *asleep state* (absence of external stimuli to thalamic network) we initialize self-sustained spindle-activity of thalamic circuit as in [1]. We consider instead external Poisson spike trains with different rates to simulate sensory inputs during *awake state*. In both regimes we consider also cortical ongoing activity as external inhomogeneous Poisson spike trains with timedependent rate described by an Onrstein-Uhlenbeck process. We described single neuron dynamics with typical AeIF coupled equations between membrane potential V(t) and auxiliar current $\Omega(t)$ reproducing biophysical adaptation. We consider different set of parameters for every populations in order to capture intrinsic dynamics of thalamocortical cells. Synaptic currents are described by a conductance-based double-exponential model, with different time constants for EPSP, IPSP and axonal delay.

Out results show that during *asleep* state thalamic LFP is characterized by θ /spindle oscillations [7-14 Hz] and 2 Hz δ -oscillations with higher amplitude. The latter emerge from a wax-and-wane behaviour of faster θ /spindle rhythms. On the other hand, during *awake state* a fraction of TC neurons change their dynamics to tonic firing with linear response to sensory stimuli. So thalamic LFP shows enhancement of β -rhythms, while an amplification in lower frequency range is also visible.

We then insert thalamic relays into cortical network. We find out that cortex synchronizes in the 2 Hz δ -rhythm and filters out θ /spindle-oscillations. Thalamic network modulates cortical LFP through this slow mechanism of δ -rhythm embodied by cortical network. This occurs during both asleep and awake states. Instead,

intermediate θ /spindle-oscillations are not incorporated into cortical rhythms. Rather, low spindle inputs from thalamus enhance intrinsic cortical excitation-inhibition rhythms in the high- β [20-30] Hz range during asleep state. When sensory inputs intensify thalamic activity, cortical oscillations encode strength of thalamic afferents into amplified and faster γ -rhythms [35-40 Hz]. Even during awake state spindle frequencies are not embodied by cortical activity. Consequently, they seems to be a relay mechanism rather than an informative coupling between networks.

In conclusion, our model is able to reproduce information transfer from thalamus to cortex in terms of network oscillations. This opens new possibilities for understanding the role of thalamocortical rhythms in several physiological and pathological processes, such as perception and epileptic discharges mechanisms [3].

Acknowledgments

The research has been partially supported by the grant "PANACEE" (Prevision and analysis of brain activity in transitions: epilepsy and sleep) of the Regione Toscana - PAR FAS 2007-2013 1.1.a.1.1.2 - B22I14000770002.

- Barardi A, Garcia-Ojalvo J, Mazzoni A (2016) "Transition between Functional Regimes in an Integrate-And-Fire Network Model of the Thalamus" PLoS ONE 2016 11(9): e0161934.
- [2] Mazzoni A, Panzeri S, Logothetis NK, Brunel N (2008) "Encoding of Naturalistic Stimuli by Local Field Potential Spectra in Networks of Excitatory and Inhibitory Neurons" PLoS Comput Biol 4(12): e1000239. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000239
- [3] Destexhe A. "Network Models of Absence Seizures". Neuronal Networks in Brain Function, CNS Disorders, and Therapeutics, Academic Press, 2014: 11-35.

Inhibitory circuits in the antennal lobe of the honey bees

Irina Sinakevitch¹, Cathrine Armengaud², Maxim Bazhenov³ and Brian H. Smith⁴

¹Arizona State University, SOLS, Tempe, 85282; ²Centre de Recherches sur la Cognition Animale, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, UPS, Toulouse 31062, France; ³University of California San Diego, School of Medicine, La Jolla, CA 92037-7381; ³Arizona State University, SOLS, Tempe, 85282

Olfaction represents an essential function for living organisms, yet it is one of the least understood of the senses. In the honey bee, olfactory information processing from the olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs) to the uniglomerular projection neurons (uPNs) of the antennal lobe (AL) and higher order centers is modulated by inhibition (via both fast, ionotropic, and slow, metabotropic, receptors). Fast ionotropic inhibition provides rapid inhibitory synaptic transmission to the central nervous system and, in the honey bee AL, is mediated by three major neurotransmitters: GABA, glutamate, and histamine. These neurotransmitters act via ionotropic receptor- chloride channels (GABAa, GluCls, HistCl), that are members of the Cys-loop ligand-gated ion channel superfamily. Particularly little is known about histaminergic Cl channels in the bee, while the subset of the LNs in AL is known to be histaminergic. Among the slow metabotropic receptors in the honey bee olfactory system are AmTyr1 and AmGluRA, both of which are known to be negatively coupled to adenylyl cyclase in a way that diminishes cAMP levels. We previously showed that AmTyr1 is expressed in the presynaptic OSNs in the glomerulus. In our new study, we describe GABAergic and glutamatergic inhibition in the honey bee AL aiming to understand how inhibition shapes responses to the odor in the AL.

In the honeybee AL, the principal inhibitory GABAergic neurons are the Local Interneurons (LNs) and multiglomerular projection neurons (mPNs). They release GABA into the all compartments of each glomerulus and act via GABAa receptors. The only group of neurons that express a GABAa subunit (rdl, part of the ionotropic GABA channels) comprises homogenous LNs that equally interconnect glomeruli. On the other hand, the source of glutamate is still unknown, but glutamatergic synapses are present in all compartment of a glomerulus. Glutamate acts on GluCl1 channels and our new data revealed that GluCl1 are expressed at high levels in uPNs. To show that, we used antibodies against GluCl1 subunits combined with the synaptic marker anti-synapsin in PNs identified using neural tracing with neurobiotin. These new results strongly suggest that glutamate is a neuroactive molecule involved in inhibition of the uPNs in the antennal lobe.

Importantly, glial cells are a critical part of the inhibitory glutamatergic circuits. They can be visualized in the antennal lobe by identifying sites containing glutamine synthetase, the enzyme that processes glutamate. We found that glial cells that surround each glomerulus have very fine arborizations in the cortex area of the glomerulus. Also, the glial cells reveal anti-glutamate staining as well as the anti- NMDR1 subunits together with mGluRA. Our new data suggest a complex distribution of the glial cells involved in the GABA and glutamate signaling in insect olfaction. Grant: Human Frontier Science Program grant for Brian H Smith as co-PI.

Can grid cell ensembles represent multiple spaces?

Davide Spalla, Sophie Rosay and Alessandro Treves

SISSA

Grid cells are neurons in the Medial Entorhinal Cortex of mammals whose firing activity is tuned to the position of the animal in space, exhibiting multiple peaks of activity that span an hexagonal grid. Early work investigating the representation by these cells of multiple environments [1] showed that mutual relationships between grids of different cells where conserved between environments, suggesting that grid cells ensembles encode a single, low-dimensional, "universal" map. Such universality was only demonstrated, however, in flat, extended and empty spatial environments. Moreover, recent studies [2,3] in environments with complex geometry show a distortion of the grid pattern in response to environmental features, such as odd shapes or internal walls. These results question the universal map hypothesis, and come together with evidence that the hippocampal-entorhinal circuit can encode abstract or conceptual spaces [4] which may in principle require a complex geometrical and topological representation.

We aim to address these issue from a theoretical perspective, answering first a preliminary question: is it at all possible to conceive of multiple, hence non universal, ideal grid representations expressed in the same local network when the animal is placed in distinct flat environments?

To answer this question we estimate, with both numerical simulations and analytical calculations, the capacity of an ensemble of grid units to store and retrieve multiple uncorrelated grid maps. This ensemble is described as a neural network of firing-rate units with a threshold-linear input-output relation and recurrent connectivity. Multiple continuous attractors, corresponding to different environments, are stored in the synaptic weights of the network through a hebbian connectivity rule. The storage capacity is calculated analytically in the mean field approximation for a network with full connectivity, following the method described in [5], for three different periodic attractors: stripes, square grids and hexagonal grids. Using the self-consistent signal to noise analysis developed in [6], the calculation is extended to arbitrary values of connectivity density.

Results show a great enhancement of the storage capacity in the case of hexagonal patterns with respect to stripes and square grids, indicating that the former satisfy optimality criteria for stability and memory capacity. This enhancement persists throughout all biologically realistic values of the connectivity density. The large storage capacity for hexagonal grids suggests a mechanism of this kind could be effective in representing multiple complex and incongruent spaces, provided such representation can be established in memory in the first place. Finally, these results hint that the same basic neural circuitry could store and represent, with no extra mechanism, abstract or conceptual spaces.

Bibliography

[1] Fyhn M. et al., Nature 446, 190–194 (08 March 2007)

- [2] Stensola T. et al., Nature 518, 207–212 (12 February 2015)
- [3] Krupic J. et al., Nature 518, 232–235 (12 February 2015)
- [4] Aronov D. et al., Nature 543, 719–722 (30 March 2017)
- [5] Battaglia F. P. & Treves A., Phys. Rev. E 58, 7738–7753 (December 1998)
- [6] Roudi Y. & Treves A., Journal of Statistical Mechanics 2004.07 (2004)

Comparison of methods for detection of spatio-temporal patterns in multivariate point processes

Alessandra Stella¹, Pietro Quaglio¹, Laura Sacerdote² and Sonja Gruen³

¹INM-6, IAS-6 & INM-10, Juelich Research Centre, Juelich, Germany; ²Department of Mathematics "G. Peano", University of Torino, Torino, Italy; ³INM-6, IAS-6 & INM-10, Juelich Research Centre, Juelich, Germany; Theoretical Systems Neurobiology, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany

Hebb's hypothesis [1] states that the information processing is performed by groups of neurons called assemblies. Correlated activity between neurons of the cell assembly is considered as the signature of its activation [2, 3]. Several methods have been designed to extract such correlation and dependency structures from massively parallel spike trains. Here we concentrate on methods that specifically detect significant repetitions of spatio-temporal spike patterns (STP), i.e. with temporal delays between the composing spikes. In particular we aim here to compare two statistical methods for STP detection, SPADE [4, 5] and CAD [6], for their statistical and computational performances to evaluate their parameter regimes. SPADE detects all possible repetitions of spike patterns with a mining technique called Frequent Itemset Mining (FIM). The found and counted patterns are then evaluated for their statistical significance by a bootstrap technique employing the generation of surrogate data by spike dithering [7]. CAD on the other hand, consists of a parametric statistical test (assuming Poisson distribution of the spike trains) applied to pairwise correlations. It builds on an agglomerative recursive algorithm similar to the accretion method [8], starting by extracting all significantly correlated pairs of neurons. The resulting correlated processes are then further correlated with individual spike trains for higher order patterns. The two methods are compared by applying them to the same artificial parallel spike trains modeled as stochastic point processes with a particular correlation model (marked point processes, see [9], supplementary material). We give an overview of the differences between the two statistical methods, both in terms of their statistical hypothesis and the required parameter input. Based on the analyses of these differently parametrized ground truth data the methods are compared in terms of the number of false positives and false negatives, in terms of the number of neurons participating in the patterns and their number of occurrences. We conclude that SPADE has overall better performance in detecting higher-order dependency structures of any size (number of neurons involved, higher than 2) and number of occurrences, whereas CAD performs well for STPs of any size, however only if they occur in high numbers. Finally, we assess their computational performance in terms of runtime in different contexts (i.e. datasets with and without STPs), concluding that CAD is computationally performing better than SPADE, since the second is based on Monte Carlo methods. Further tests will also consider more realistic non-Poisson ground truth data and evaluate the combined computational and false positive/false negative performance, expecting the latter to be less good for the CAD method.

- [1] Hebb (1949) The organization of behavior. Wiley & Sons
- [2] Singer et al. (1997) Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 1, 252-261
- [3] Harris (2005) Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 5, 339-407
- [4] Torre et al. (2013) Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience, 7:132
- [5] Quaglio et al. (2017) Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience, 11
- [6] Russo, E., & Durstewitz, D. (2017) Elife, 6
- [7] Louis et al. (2010) Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience, 4:127
- [8] Gerstein et al. (1978) Brain Research, 140: 43-62.
- [9] Quaglio et al. (2018) Biological Cybernetics, 1-24

Associative Transitions in Language Processing

Massimiliano Trippa and Alessandro Treves

SISSa

Many studies of the neural substrates of language measure responses to semantic violations or involve unnaturally rapid stimulus presentation. While recent studies have also shed light on the distributed encoding of concepts in the brain in more ecological settings, the study of language cannot be reduced to only a description of where semantic content is stored. Related concepts tend to elicit one another. allowing for the production and expression of more complex and profound thoughts. Based on this simple intuition, we have designed a new paradigm to explore the associative neuronal mechanisms that may underlie language processes, which we have previously characterized with models of latching dynamics. Participants are asked to select words (targets), appearing on the screen, which satisfy precise rules of association with a reference word (prime), allowing us to investigate the neural signatures of latching between stored memory items. The stimuli are existing Italian words which could be associated to each other orthographically (addition, omission or change of one letter) or semantically (synonym, antonym, encyclopedic or association of ideas). Behavioral results show orthographic transitions to be 80ms faster, on average, than semantic ones. Among semantic transitions, "association of ideas" need the longest reaction times, in contrast to what other priming experiments have shown. This opposite result could be due to the diverse semantic content that has to be accessed in such trials. Networks models envisage a transition of part of the semantic units, "pivoting" around the stable activity of others. In a following EEG study we considered the Event-Related Potentials time-locked to the presentation of the target words. For this experiments we mainly focused on the differences between word-form (orthographic) and semantic transitions, comparing them with a "no association" control condition, made by target words correctly classified as not related to the prime. The data clearly show different dynamics for the different conditions. A N400 component is found for orthographic transitions only, in possible disagreement with the current dominant view of the N400 as related to the retrieval of word meaning N400. A semantic retrieval interpretation would indeed suggest the presence of this component also in "no association" trials, which we have not found. A modulation of the P600 potential appears for "word-form" and, more weakly, for "no association" transitions with respect to semantic ones. This later component, mostly investigated in sentence comprehension studies, could be the marker for a process of re-analysis/integration of top-down and bottom-up information, necessary for the decision making process. Further experimental and theoretical investigation on the specific rules of association is needed to clarify the different processing hidden in what we now observe as a N400/P600 modulation.

A study of dependency features of spike trains through copulas

Pietro Verzelli¹, Laura Sacerdote²

¹Università della Svizzera italiana, Lugano, Switzerland; ²Università degli studi di Torino, Turin, Italy

Simultaneous recordings from many neurons are possible but the underlying network is generally unknown. The existence of an underlying network determines dependencies in the neural activity, generating patterns in the spike trains. Many efforts have been devoted to the development of statistical techniques suitable to detect these dependencies. (see Kass et al. [1] and papers cited therein). Due to the importance of this problem it looks interesting to enlarge the study to alternative approaches. To do that, we propose the use of copulas, as they are able to completely capture all the information related to the joint behavior of random variables. This is a preliminary contribution, on the same direction followed by Sacerdote et al. [2]. In particular, we developed an open source software (NERVE) for this type of analysis and we use this software to generate and analyze synthetic data . We simulate leaky integrate and fire models for groups of two or three neurons, introducing dependencies among them mimicking the behavior of the surrounding networks or through direct interactions. By the use of empirical copulas we were able to discern between the two cases and to reconstruct the causal interactions among neurons.

- Kass RE., Amari S., Arai K., Brown EN., Diekman CO., Diesmann M., Doiron B., Eden U., Fairhall A., Fiddyment GM., Fukai T., Grün S., Harrison MT., Helias M., Nakahara H., Teramae J., Thomas PJ., Reimers M., Rodu J., Rotstein HG., Shea-Brown E., Shimazaki H., Shinomoto S., Yu BM., Kramer MA. "Computational Neuroscience: Mathematical and Statistical Perspectives." Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application 5 (2018): 183-214.
- [2] Sacerdote, L., Tamborrino, M. and Zucca, C.. "Detecting dependencies between spike trains of pairs of neurons through copulas." *Brain research* 1434 (2012): 243-256.

The Gamma renewal process as an output of a two compartment leaky integrate-and-fire neuronal model

A. Civallero, L. Sacerdote and C. Zucca

Dept. of Mathematics "G. Peano", University of Torino, Turin, Italy

In a previous paper [1] we related a neuronal model based on neurophysiological data with a completely descriptive one. In particular, we considered the stochastic leaky integrate and fire (LIF) and the Gamma models. The question investigated in that paper was the possibility of getting a Gamma distributed output from a LIF model in the presence of coherent choices of the parameters. The used LIF model was the classical one-dimensional Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process; this choice implied a strong simplification of the structure of the neuron that was identified with a single point.

In [2], we proposed a different LIF model characterized by two compartments. This choice allowed us to distinguish the dynamics between the trigger and the synaptic zones.

Here we repeat the study of [1] on the two compartment model. For this aim we introduce the inverse First Passage Time (FPT) problem for multivariate Gauss-Markov processes and we investigate the boundary shape corresponding to Gamma FPT distributions for suitable choices of the parameters.

- P. Lansky, L. Sacerdote and C. Zucca. The Gamma renewal process as an output of the diffusion leaky integrate-and-fire neuronal model. *Biol. Cybern.*, 110 (2-3): 193–200,2016.
- [2] E. Benedetto, L. Sacerdote and C. Zucca. A first passage problem for a bivariate diffusion process: numerical solution with an application to neuroscience when the process is Gauss-Markov J. Comp. Appl. Math. 242: 41–52, 2013.
- [3] C. Zucca and L. Sacerdote. On the inverse first-passage-time problem for a Wiener process. Ann. Appl. Prob. 19 (4): 1319-1346, 2009.

List of participants

- Tetiana Aksenova (CEA, LETI, CLINATEC, France)
- Arezoo Alizadehkhajehiem (Center for Neuroscience and Cognitive System @UniTn IIT Rovereto (TN), Italy)
- Luisa Andreis (WIAS Berlin, Germany)
- Yoshiyuki Asai (Yamaguchi University, Graduate School of Medicine, Japan)
- Simone Azeglio (Phisics Department, University of Torino, Italy)
- Maksim Bazhenov (University of California, USA)
- Davide Bernardi (Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Germany)
- Roman Borisyuk (University of Plymouth, UK)
- Hans Braun (University of Marburg, Germany)
- Guido Bugmann (University of Plymouth, UK)
- Maria Francesca Carfora (Istituto per le Applicazioni del Calcolo "Mauro Picone" CNR, Italy)
- Enrico Cataldo (Physics Department University of Pisa, Italy)
- Anna Cattani (Department of Biomedical and Clinical Sciences "L. Sacco", Università degli Studi di Milano)
- Tzai-Wen Chiu (Department of Biological Science and Technology, National Chiao-Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan, ROC)
- Chris Christodoulou (University of Cyprus)
- Alessia Civallero (University of Torino, Italy)
- Maria Constantinou (Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia, Italy)
- Antonio Di Crescenzo (Dipartimento di Matematica, Università degli Studi di Salerno, Italy)
- Markus Diesmann (Forschungszentrum Juelich GmbH, Germany)

- Angelo Di Garbo (Istituto di Biofisica, CNR, Pisa, Italy)
- Elvira Di Nardo (University of Torino, Italy)
- Susanne Ditlevsen (Department of Mathematical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Denmark)
- Giuseppe D'Onofrio (University of Torino)
- Demetrio Ferro (CIMeC Center for Mind/Brain Sciences, University of Trento, Italy)
- Yves Fregnac (UNIC, CNRS, France)
- Elisabetta Giacalone (IBF CNR Palermo, Italy)
- Matthieu Gilson (Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Spain)
- Carlo Giordana (University of Torino, Italy)
- Maria Teresa Giraudo (University of Torino, Italy)
- Priscilla Greenwood (Univ. of British Columbia, Canada)
- Sonja Grün (Forschungszentrum Juelich GmbH, Germany)
- Michael Grunwald (HTWG Konstanz / Institute for Optical Systems, Germany)
- Renaud Jolivet (University of Geneva and CERN, Switzerland)
- Zachary Kilpatrick (University of Colorado)
- Ryota Kobayashi (National Institute of Informatics, Japan)
- Irina Kopysova (UNIC, CNRS, France)
- Lubomir Kostal (Institute of Physiology CAS, Prague, Czech Republic)
- Shinsuke Koyama (The Institute of Statistical Mathematics, Japan)
- Vera Lanska (Institute for Clinical and Experimental Medicine IKEM, Czech Republic)
- Petr Lansky (Institute of Physiology CAS, Prague, Czech Republic)
- Marie Levakova (Institute of Physiology of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Czech Republic)
- Kang Li (University of Copenhagen, Denmark)
- Benjamin Lindner (Bernstein Center for Computational Neuroscience, Germany)
- Emanuele Lucrezia (Forschungszentrum Juelich GmbH, Germany)

- Petr Marsalek (Charles University in Prague, Czech Republic)
- Rosanna Migliore (Istituto di Biofisica CNR, Italy)
- Thierry Nieus (Department of Biomedical and Clinical Sciences "Luigi Sacco" University of Milan, Italy)
- Sander Paekivi (Tallin University, Estonia)
- Guenther Palm (Forschungszentrum Juelich, Germany)
- Giuseppe Pica (Istituto Italiano di Tecnologia, Italy)
- Enrica Pirozzi (Università di Napoli "Federico II", Italy)
- Ondrej Pokora (Masaryk University, Czech Republic)
- Nicola Politi (Politecnico di Torino, Italy)
- Federico Polito (University of Torino, Italy)
- Yifat Prut (The Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Israel)
- Pietro Quaglio (Forschungszentrum Juelich GmbH, Germany)
- Costantino Ricciuti (University of Torino, Italy)
- Vahid Rostami (University of Cologne, Germany)
- Anjan Roy (ICTP, Trieste, Italy)
- Laura Sacerdote (University of Torino, Italy)
- Matteo Saponati (Department of Physics, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy)
- Francesca Schönsberg (SISSA, Italy)
- Shigeru Shinomoto (Kyoto University, Japan)
- Irina Sinakevitch (Arizona State University, USA)
- Roberta Sirovich (University of Torino, Italy)
- Davide Spalla (SISSA, Italy)
- Alessandra Stella (Forschungszentrum Juelich GmbH, Germany)
- Michael Stiber (University of Washington Bothell, USA)
- Massimiliano Tamborrino (Institute for Stochastics, JKU Linz, Austria)
- Taro Tezuka (University of Tsukuba, Japan)
- Massimiliano Trippa (SISSA, Italy)

- Irene Tubikanec (Johannes Kepler University, Linz, Austria)
- Tatiana Turova Schmeling (Lund University, Sweden)
- Pietro Verzelli (Università della Svizzera Italiana, Switzerland)
- Alessandro E.P. Villa (Neuroheuristic Research Group University of Lausanne, Switzerland)
- Paola Vitale (Istituto di Biofisica, CNR, Palermo, Italy)
- Cristina Zucca (University of Torino, Italy)
Author Index

Østergaard Jacob, 18 Abe Takeshi, 58 Aksenova Tetiana, 1 Albantakis Larissa, 65 Alizadeh Arezoo, 55 Andreis Luisa, 3 Armengaud Cathrine, 88 Asai Yoshiyuki, 58 Ascione Giacomo, 63 Azeglio Simone, 60 Barbosa Leonardo, 65 Bazhenov Maxim, 4, 88 Bernardi Davide, 5 Bologna Luca Leonardo, 80 Borisyuk Roman, 7 Braun Hans Albert, 10 Brochier Thomas, 36 Brown David A., 75

Buckwar Evelyn, 49 Bugmann Guido, 61 Caputi A., 76 Carfora Maria Francesca, 63 Casali Adenauer, 33 Casarotto Silvia, 33 Cataldo E., 86 Cattani Anna, 65 Ceccarelli G., 86 Chang Tsai-Rong, 67 Chillemi Santi, 16 Chiu Tzai-Wen, 67 Christodoulou Chris, 11 Civallero A., 95 Costantinou Maria, 69 D'Onofrio Giuseppe, 19, 46, 73 Deco Gustavo, 20 Di Crescenzo Antonio, 71

Di Garbo Angelo, 16 Diesmann Markus, 14 Ditlevsen Susanne, 18, 31 Fasoli Diego, 69 Federico Polito, 84 Ferrario Andrea, 7 Fronzoni L., 86 Leone, 16 Fujita Kazuki, 42 Galatolo Stefano, 16 Giacalone Elisabetta, 75 Gilson Matthieu, 20 Giordana C., 76 Goslin Jeremy, 61 Greenwood Priscilla E., 22 Gruen Sonja, 36, 78, 91 Hayano Takahide, 58 Insabato Andrea, 20 Ito Junji, 78 Jaquerod Manon, 58 Jolivet Renaud, 23 Jun James J., 60

Kilpatrick Zachary P., 24 Kitano Katsunori, 26 Kobayashi Ryota, 26, 27 Koláček Jan, 83 Kostal Lubomir, 27, 73 Koyama Shinsuke, 42, 77 Kurita Shuhei, 26 Lansky Petr, 19, 46, 84 Lee Jewel YunHsuan, 43 Levakova Marie, 28 Li Kang, 31 Lindner Benjamin, 5, 30 Lintas Alessandra, 58 Longtin André, 60 Lucrezia Emanuele, 78 Lupascu Carmen Alina, 80 Maler Leonard, 60 Marangio Luigi, 16 Marsalek Petr, 32 Marshall William, 65 Marsili Matteo, 40 Martinello Katiuscia, 75 Massimini

Marcello, 33, 65 Mazzoni A., 86 Alberto, 40 Meneghetti Nicolò, 40 Merrison-Hort Robert, 7 Migliore Michele, 75, 80 Rosanna, 80 Mizuseki Kenji, 26 Moly Alexandre, 1 Nawrot Martin P., 38 Nieus Thierry, 33 Onken Arno, 55 Pallarés Vicente, 20 Palm Guenther, 78 Panzeri Stefano, 35, 55, 69 Pastore Beatrice, 40 Pica Giuseppe, 35 Pirozzi Enrica, 63, 73, 81 Pokora Ondřej, 83 Pozzi Diletta, 40 Quaglio Pietro, 36, 91 Rahbek Anders, 18 Richmond Barry J., 26

Riehle Alexa, 36 Rodriguez-Cattáneo A., 76 Rosay Sopie, 89 Rost Thomas, 38 Rostami Vahid, 38 Roy Anjan, 40 Sacerdote Laura, 76, 84, 91, 94, 95 Saponati M., 86 Schaeffer Marie-Caroline, 1 Shah Mala M., 75 Shinomoto Shigeru, 26, 42 Sinakevitch Irina, 88 Smith Brian H., 88 Soffe Stephen, 7 Spalla Davide, 89 Stella Alessandra, 36, 91 Stiber Michael, 43 Suta Daniel, 67 Tamborrino Massimiliano, 46, 49, 76 Tchaptchet Aubin, 10 Tezuka Taro, 47 Thill Serge, 61 Tononi

Giulio, 65 Torre Emiliano, 36 Vincent, 40 Tovazzi Daniele, 3 Travaglino Fabio, 71 Treves Alessandro, 89, 93 Trippa Massimiliano, 93 Tubikanec Irene, 49 Turova Tatyana, 51 van Albada Sacha J., 38 Verzelli Pietro, 94 Villa Alessandro E.P., 52, 58 Ward Lawrence L., 22 Zamora-López Gorka, 20 Zucca Cristina, 95